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Over fifty years ago, various groups of people in our regions  
decided to band together and create something for each other. 

They decided to put people before profit and created a banking 
alternative that wasn’t bound by the distraction of delivering  
profits in the interest of financial shareholders. 

They created a customer-owned and operated financial institution  
and started a movement in community banking. Today, our 
customers remain our shareholders and we continue to deliver a  
style of service that is valued by thousands, right across Australia.

REGIONAL
AUSTRALIA BANK

2021/2022 HIGHLIGHTS

Supporting Regional 
Australia with loan 

growth of 6%

Support 12 branches 
in towns without  

an alternative  
bank presence

$3.15  
Billion assets

Leading innovation 
across Consumer 
Data Rights and 

Banking as a Service

$2m Donated 
through Community 
Partnership Program

Significant investment 
into core banking and 
payment processing 

capabilities
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CAPTURE THE FLAG 
REGIONAL AUSTRALIA BANK 
STRATEGIC PLAN 2022-2027
The strategy and performance of our organisation 

over the last five (5) years sees Regional Australia 

Bank in a strong position as we consider our future 

strategic aspirations. The 2022-2027 Strategic Plan 

communicates our strategy and vision ‘to be the 

trusted relationship bank for all regional Australians’. 

To understand and embrace the vision, it is  

important to understand the ‘why’ behind our 

thinking. As a team, we believe regional Australians 

deserve help, and we believe in their potential.  

Banking is essential to regional Australians, but it is 

a distraction from their lives. Our people are great 

at banking. Most importantly, we believe in this 

vision because we are regional Australians. While the 

organisation wears the label Regional Australia Bank, 

we are currently largely represented in Northern 

New South Wales. 

This strategy seeks to extend our reach and impact 

in regional Australia through three strategy pillars 

– ‘Regional expansion’, ‘Our relationship promise’ 

and ‘Leverage and learn’. Discussion of these pillars 

provides an overview of the importance of nine (9) 

Strategic Focus Areas, and the actions and initiatives 

which will guide our development in these areas. 

Discussion then moves to how we intend to bring 

this strategy to life within the organisation, by using 

a call to action. Our call to action ‘Capture the flag’ 

brings memories of our successful strategies of our 

past with us towards a great future, where our teams 

can be energised and celebrate progress towards our 

strategic objectives. Our approach to monitoring and 

measuring our objectives is presented in a scorecard, 

with key performance objectives (KPIs) for the next 

three financial years.

Organic  
digital & 

physical growth

Market 
positioning

Inorganic 
growth

Relevant 
products that 

are simple  
to use

Member SME 
and community 

relationships

Proactive 
balance sheet 

and risk 
appetite

Our 
performance 
commitment

Commercialise 
existing assets 

into new 
markets

Enhancing 
our skills and 
capabilities

Relentless customer  
and community focus 

through people

Purposeful  
creativity

Honouring our  
promises

Purposeful  
partnerships

Trust through integrity, respect and fairness

To be the trusted relationship bank 
for all regional Australians

Regional expansion Our relationship promise Leverage & learn
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CHAIRMAN & CEO REPORT

Dear Members,

Once again, we have faced a challenging 
year, combating the ongoing effects 
of the pandemic. In what has been 
an undoubtedly challenging time for 
our communities, we are proud of the 
unwavering dedication of our staff who 
have worked hard to provide support 
and care for our customers during these 
turbulent times. 

In turn, our customers continue to be our greatest 

advocates proving that the essence of community 

remains alive and well.

Our branches and offices are now filled with life once 

again. We are proud of the initiative shown by our 

staff in ensuring that both colleagues and customers 

feel connected. The evolving nature of this pandemic 

has challenged our people to find new and flexible 

ways to remain engaged with each other and our 

customers. Trust based on personal connections will 

always remain a priority for us and has defined our 

relationship with the regional Australian communities 

we serve.

After a 2-year absence, we were once again able 

to facilitate the annual Community Partnership 

Events across our network. We are proud to 

announce that in 2021/2022 we reached over  

$2 million in community donations. This funding 

has gone to a wide range of clubs, associations 

and organisations that share our understanding  

of the value of community. 

This is an important program for Regional Australia 

Bank and we are proud that we have been able to 

demonstrate our commitment to regional Australia 

in such a tangible way.

2021 marked the final year in our Summit Strategy, 

and a huge milestone for our organisation. This 

strategy saw great success for the business in a 

challenging environment. The core objective of our 

Summit strategy was to build a strong performing 

business that was focused on ensuring the personal 

and financial welfare of all our customers.

Our success is underlined by our 
ability to responsibly sustain services in 
areas where other banks won’t, while 
building a business that grew at 6.1% to 
pass $3 billion in total assets supported 
by over $73 million in annual revenue.

Through the second half of the year, we commenced 

work on defining our new strategy to extend 

upon the success of our Summit strategy. Our new 

‘Capture the Flag’ strategy is an aggressive five-

year plan to increase our profile within our existing 

footprint and launch into new areas through regional 

expansion. Our vision to be the trusted relationship 

bank for all regional Australians confirms our 

ongoing commitment to regional Australia, our local 

customers, and businesses. To achieve this vision, 

we are set to embark on a program of investing into 

new skills, partnerships and technologies that will 

enhance the depth and reach of our relationships 

with regional Australians. Several key infrastructure 

investments are already underway including 

upgrades to our core banking system, payment 

processing capabilities and banking product set.

The 2022/23 financial year will bring a new set of 

challenges to both our business and our members. 

Rapidly increasing interest rates and inflation, 

combined with uncertain property prices and 

increasingly volatile weather conditions are expected 

to continue placing pressure on the lives of regional 

Australians. We remain confident that as a member 

owned organisation, that we have the capacity and 

Graham Olrich Dave Heine
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Our new ‘Capture the Flag’ strategy is an 
aggressive five-year plan to increase our profile 

within our existing footprint and launch into new 
areas through regional expansion.

the commitment to help manage any impact these 

conditions may have on our customers (and owners 

as members).

On a point of reflection, this past year also marked 

the retirement of both Brian Goodall (Board Member 

since 1997) and Allan Gordon (Board Member since 

2006) from our Board of Directors. We thank Brian 

and Allan for their years of service, and expertise 

shared. I have no doubt their contribution and hard 

work has led to the success Regional Australia Bank 

enjoys today. 

On 1 March 2022, we welcomed our newest Director, 

Sally Mackenzie to the board. Sally brings experience 

in corporate social responsibility, strategy, 

stakeholder engagement, regulatory policy, and 

risk management to the Board. She has over two 

decades of experience across a range of public and 

private sector roles. 

On behalf of the Board, and all of us at Regional 

Australia Bank, we wish both Brian and Allan well  

in their new endeavours, and welcome Sally.

In closing, it has been our pleasure to each serve  

as Chairman on the Board and Chief Executive Officer 

of Regional Australia Bank. We would like to thank our 

fellow Board members, executives and staff for their 

commitment and contribution throughout the year. 

Regards,

Graham Olrich, Dave Heine, 

Chairman CEO
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SALLY MACKENZIE
BOARD MEMBER SINCE 2022

Sally brings experience in corporate social responsibility, strategy, stakeholder engagement, 
regulatory policy, and risk management to the Board. She has over two decades of experience 
across a range of public and private sector roles. She is currently General Manager – 
Government, Industry and Regulatory Affairs at Australia Post. Sally is Deputy Chair of the 
Domestic Violence Crisis Service and Treasurer of the Australian Professional Government 
Relations Association. Key responsibilities on the Board include being a member of the Audit 
Committee and a member of the Risk Committee. 

MICHAEL FENECH
BOARD MEMBER SINCE 2014

Michael has considerable banking industry knowledge, including a deep knowledge of risk 
management, leadership, and strategy. Michael also has substantial executive management 
experience in the banking sector across Australia, operating in roles at Chief Executive level. 
Michael is actively involved as a consultant to many financial institutions and holds various 
Board positions. Key responsibilities on the Board include member of the Risk Committee, 
Audit Committee and Chair of the Corporate Governance Committee.

KATE JAMES
BOARD MEMBER SINCE 2008

Kate has experience in small business and corporate governance. She has participated in several 
agriculture and government related consultative committees. As a small businessperson and 
agricultural producer, Kate is aware of the challenges that face small businesses, particularly 
in regional and rural areas. Key responsibilities on the Board include being a member of the 
Corporate Governance Committee and Risk Committee.

DAVID JOHNSON 
BOARD MEMBER SINCE 2016

David has extensive experience working in the banking and business sectors at the senior 
management and company secretary level. Now retired, David brings extensive Board 
experience in the areas of financial performance, audit, risk, and governance and has been 
a Director on boards in varied industries since 1995. David is a graduate of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors. Key responsibilities on the Board include being a member  
of the Risk Committee and Audit Committee.

GRAHAM OLRICH
CHAIRMAN SINCE 2014 - BOARD MEMBER SINCE 2011

Graham has extensive knowledge and experience in banking spanning over 40 years, with 
many of those as CEO/Managing Director of Credit Union Australia (CUA). Graham has served 
as a Non-executive director on many boards over the past 20 years and runs his own consulting 
business to the banking sector. Key responsibilities on the Board include Ex-officio member of 
the Audit Committee, Corporate Governance Committee and Risk Committee.

BOARD
OF DIRECTORS
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GEOFF THOMPSON
BOARD MEMBER SINCE 2008

Geoff has extensive experience in accounting and business consulting and is a partner in 
the national accounting firm, Pitcher Partners. Geoff has expertise in providing specialised 
business advice to some of the Hunter Valley’s most significant businesses. Key responsibilities 
on the Board include being current Chair of the Audit Committee and member of the  
Risk Committee.

BRIAN GOODALL
BOARD MEMBER SINCE 1997 (RETIRED 25 NOVEMBER 2021)

During a career as a lawyer, Brian developed extensive experience in the mutual banking 
sector with particular emphasis on the legal and compliance areas. Brian has now focussed 
solely on his Board roles with many organisations in the banking and not-for-profit sector. 
Brian is also active in the Australian Institute of Company Directors. Key responsibilities on 
the Board include being Chair of the Corporate Governance Committee and a member of the  
Risk Committee.

ALLAN GORDON
BOARD MEMBER SINCE 2006 (RETIRED 25 NOVEMBER 2021)

Allan has extensive background in small business lending and commercial management.  
He brings knowledge and expertise in the areas of financial and business management, 
leadership, and compliance, having operated a business consultancy company specialising in 
business management and mortgage fund compliance. Allan has had many years of experience 
operating at an executive level and is presently Chief Executive Officer of Hastings Co-Operative. 
Key responsibilities on the Board include being a member of the Audit Committee.

DR ALISON SHERIDAN 
BOARD MEMBER SINCE 2003

Through her extensive experience as a business educator and researcher, Alison brings a deep 
knowledge of leadership, strategy, and risk management to the Board. She has lived and worked 
in the New England region for more than three decades and is an experienced non-executive 
director. Key responsibilities on the Board include Chair of the Risk Committee and member of 
the Corporate Governance Committee.

NEVILLE PARSONS
BOARD MEMBER SINCE 2007

Neville spent over 31 years as CEO of Holiday Coast Credit Union before retiring 1 July 2019 and 
as a result brings extensive mutual financial institution experience to the Board. Neville has 
also served as a member of the Mid North Coast Local Area Health Board from 2011 to 2021 
including as Deputy Chair and Chair of the Finance & Performance Committee. In February 
2022 Neville was appointed as the Independent Chair of the Clarence Valley Council AUDIT Risk 
and Improvement Committee. For the period 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2023 Neville is serving as 
District Governor for Rotary District 9660’. Key responsibilities on the Regional Australia Bank 
Board include being a member of the Corporate Governance Committee and member of the 
Risk Committee.
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DAVID HEINE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

David brings extensive experience to Regional Australia Bank having worked across the 
finance and banking sectors for over 30 years. David has held executive positions at Cuscal 
Ltd, eftpos, Cardtronics and Linfox Armaguard specialising in innovation, technology, financial 
markets, balance sheet management and payment systems. He has served as a director at 
eftpos, Australian Payments and Clearing Association (now AusPayNet) and Credit Union 
Financial Support System (CUFSS).

MICHELLE EDMONDS
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Having over 27 years’ experience in the financial sector, 24 of these spent in various 
Management roles, Michelle brings an extensive wealth of knowledge to the Executive 
Management team. Responsible for the People & Customer portfolio, she holds formal 
qualifications in Business (majoring in Human Resources) from the University of New England, 
and qualifications in Positive Psychology and Advanced Management.

LES BAILEY
CHIEF OPERATIONS OFFICER

With over 20 years’ experience within the customer-owned banking sector, Les has held 
numerous non-executive director and senior executive roles specialising in Strategy, 
Governance, Risk Management, Compliance and Retail Distribution. Les holds a master’s 
degree in Business Administration (MBA) and is also a graduate of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors.

EXECUTIVE
MANAGEMENT

JULIE ARMSTRONG
CHIEF INFORMATION OFFICER

With over 25 years experience in Financial Services and Banking, Julie offers extensive experience 
in leading and developing high performing teams across multi-disciplinary functions including 
operations, sales and risk. Passionate about developing and delivering outstanding customer 
experiences, Julie has a proven track record in scaling organisations and has been instrumental 
in growing successful, thriving and mature businesses.

REGIONAL AUSTRALIA BANK  |  2022 ANNUAL REPORT10



CHRIS STACE
CHIEF PRODUCT OFFICER

Chris leads Regional Australia Bank’s product portfolio with responsibility for strategic 
product direction to build great products for customers that deliver sustainable value for the 
bank. With a background in business planning, marketing, operations, strategy and delivery 
of transformational change programs, Chris brings over 17 years of banking and finance 
leadership experience to the executive management team. Before this role, Chris was the Chief 
Operations Officer at Regional Australia Bank. Chris has a Bachelor of Business in Management 
from the University of New England.

CAMPBELL NICOLL
CHIEF RISK OFFICER

Having over 20 years’ experience in Credit and Non-Financial Risk Management, Campbell 
brings a strong risk management background to the Executive Management Team. Campbell 
is both a Chartered Banker and a Fellow of FINSIA. Prior to his role at Regional Australia Bank, 
Campbell’s experience within the financial sector includes General Manager positions at ASB 
Bank (New Zealand) and Bank of South Pacific (Fiji).

DAVID MUNDAY
CHIEF GOVERNANCE & LEGAL OFFICER AND COMPANY SECRETARY

David Munday has extensive executive management experience in the banking sector. David 
has accountability for the bank’s corporate governance, company secretariat, compliance and 
legal matters. David also holds the position of Company Secretary. He has formal qualifications 
in business, law and is a chartered Company Secretary. David is a graduate of the Harvard 
Business School and the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

JAMES HARRIS
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

James has extensive financial management and executive experience across banking and 
financial services in Australia, Europe and North America. James has accountability across the 
Treasury and Finance functions of the bank and is a Fellow of Certified Practising Accountants 
(FCPA), holding formal qualifications in accounting and finance from the University of New 
England and FINSIA.
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PERFORMANCE
To be financially sustainable  

allowing delivery of greater value  

to members into the future. 
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GOAL:  TO BE FINANCIALLY SUSTAINABLE ALLOWING DELIVERY  
 OF GREATER VALUE TO MEMBERS INTO THE FUTURE.

RESULT:  ACHIEVED.

PERFORMANCE
SUMMARY

LOAN GROWTH (%)

7.5 %

11.9%

7.5 %

17.2 %

6.1%

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

REVENUE ($M)

$45.9 $47.8

$64.8
$68.6

$73.5

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

COST TO INCOME (%)

71.9 % 73.8 %
83.2 %

67.3% 66.6%

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

ROA (%)

0.68%
0.61%

0.34%

0.63%

0.57%

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

NET PROFIT AFTER TAX ($M)

$9.19 $8.87
$7.54

$16.17
$17.31

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

TOTAL ASSETS ($M)

$1,403 $1,518

$2,348
$2,823

$3,150

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

PERFORMANCE
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Management Committees

CREATING VALUE THROUGH STRONG 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Regional Australia Bank is committed to continually 

improving its governance practices to ensure the 

sustainability of its banking performance and long-term 

value to its communities, members, and employees. 

As a fundamental element of Regional Australia Bank’s 

culture and business operations, the Corporate 

Governance Framework guides effective decision 

making across all aspects of the business. To achieve this, 

the Board has implemented a corporate governance 

framework that is designed to assist with achieving 

its strategic plan, whilst ensuring a clear structure of 

oversight of key controls and effective leadership. 

The Board, and each employee have a responsibility 

for upholding Regional Australia Bank’s values and 

behaviours which underpin operational activities, provide 

transparency and protect members’ interests: Integrity, 

Respect, and Fairness. These values embrace Regional 

Australia Bank’s governance principles and assist with 

ensuring behaviours and practices are appropriate and 

there is a strong risk culture in place.

The Board ensures effective control of the corporate 

governance framework through effective delegation, 

risk management and a system of assurance regarding 

financial and non-financial reporting. Regional Australia 

Bank’s Corporate Governance Framework is designed  

as follows:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT

Corporate governance framework:

Members and Customers

Board of Directors

Chief 
Executive

Board Committees

AUDIT 
COMMITTEE

RISK 
COMMITTEE

CORPORATE  
GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE

Executive Management

ASSETS AND 
LIABILITIES CREDIT PRODUCTNON-FINANCIAL  

RISK
TRANSFORMATIONAL 

CHANGE
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e
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15

MANAGEMENT AND OVERSIGHT

The Regional Australia Bank Board guides the strategic 

direction of the bank and represents the interest of 

all members by ensuring that the foundations for 

management and oversight are established, operating 

effectively, and creating sustainable value. This involves 

having the right strategy, an appropriate culture, and a 

well embedded risk appetite and governance structure. 

Role of the Board

The Board’s role and responsibilities are set out in the 

Board Corporate Governance Policy. This document 

acts as the Board’s Charter and adopts the Corporate 

Governance Framework. The Board also has a range 

of policies which detail the purpose, specific roles and 

responsibilities, delegations, operation, and performance 

of the Board. 

Key elements of the Board’s role are described as follows: 

• Approve and guide the strategic direction, major 

initiatives and objectives of Regional Australia Bank 

and monitor the implementation of those strategies  

and objectives;

• Monitor financial performance and maintain a direct 

and ongoing dialogue with Regional Australia Bank’s 

external and internal auditors;

• Review Regional Australia Bank’s risk appetite, risk 

policies and risk management strategy;

• Monitor compliance with regulatory and statutory 

requirements and the implementation of associated 

policies;

• Approve and monitor Regional Australia Bank’s values, 

culture, reputation and ethical standards;

• Set the performance standards for the Chief Executive 

Officer (CEO) and monitor ongoing performance; 

• Undertake Board and director performance 

assessments; and

• Participate in member engagement and events.

In addition, the Board Chairman is always available to 

meet with key regulators.

The Board carries out its role in accordance with the 

values of Integrity, Respect, and Fairness. To ensure 

these values are adhered to, the Board has established 

guidelines designed around skills, knowledge, experience 

and values for the nomination and selection of directors 

and for the operation of the Board. 

Meetings of the Board are held regularly. Board 

committees meet as often as required (no less than four 

times per year) to carry out their respective functions to 

support and advise the Board. 

Importantly, the Board has delegated day to day 

management of Regional Australia Bank to the CEO. The 

scope of this delegated authority is clearly documented 

to ensure effective oversight with appropriate 

empowerment, accountability, and performance.

Review of Performance

The Board undertakes an annual performance review 

process designed to assess the performance and 

effectiveness of the Board, the Board committees, and 

each individual director. 

Evaluating the performance of each individual director 

is based on the expectation they are performing their 

duties in the best interest of members, in accordance with 

Regional Australia Bank’s values, their respective duties 

and obligations as a director and the bank’s strategic 

objectives. Outcomes from the individual director reviews 

is then reflected in the Board Skills and Assessment Matrix 

so that there is an understanding of the collective skills of 

the Board and skills of respective directors. 

The Board approves the performance objectives and 

measures of the CEO, with the Chairman undertaking a 

bi-annual review of the CEO’s performance. The CEO has 

a similar structured process which periodically evaluates 

the performance of each individual Executive Manager.
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The election of directors is determined in accordance 

with Regional Australia Bank’s Constitution, and other 

statutory and regulatory requirements. Directors are 

either member elected or are appointed by the Board, 

allowing the Board the flexibility to source appropriate 

skills and expertise onto the Board when necessary.

The Board Corporate Governance Committee has 

been delegated responsibility to review and make 

recommendations to the Board regarding Board 

diversity, and to assist in the director nomination 

process. The Board requires that each of its directors and 

executive management undertake fit and proper and 

BEAR accountability character assessments to ensure 

compliance with APRA’s Prudential Standard CPS 520 Fit 

and Proper as well as the BEAR regime requirements.

Details of the directors’ experience and qualifications are 

set out in the directors report. 

For the purposes of the Banking Executive Accountability 

Regime (BEAR), Regional Australia Bank has registered 

all directors, the CEO and Executive Management as 

‘Accountable Persons’ with the Australian Prudential 

Regulation Authority (APRA). The BEAR is a performance 

and accountability regime and has strengthened clarity 

on accountabilities and decision-making processes 

across the bank.

STRUCTURING THE BOARD  
TO ADD VALUE

Board Skills, Experience and Diversity

The Board ensures that, collectively, directors have a 

broad range of relevant financial, industry experience and 

other necessary skills, and expertise to meet Regional 

Australia Bank’s strategic objectives. 

Each year the Board reviews its collective skills against the 

Board’s skills and experience requirements. 

87.5% of directors have 
specialist or detailed knowledge 
of working in a regional context
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75% of directors have 
specialist or detailed knowledge 
in a financial institution

37.5% of the directors  
are female
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Financial

Legal and Compliance

ADI Financial Services

Working in a Regional Context

 Merger Experience

Customer Service

People, Conduct & Culture

Experience as a Director

Leadership

Strategy

Risk Management

Technology & Digitisation

Governance

12 years and more 4

7 to 11 years 2

3 to 6 years 1

Less than 3 years 1

Female (3 out of 8)  37.5%

Male (5 out of 8) 62.5%

Composition
 5 member elected
 3 board appointed

Board Experience, Skills and Diversity
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Board Committees

To assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities 

and oversight of the business, it has established several 

committees with specific structure and functional 

requirements. These committees are the Board Audit 

Committee, Board Risk Committee, and the Board 

Corporate Governance Committee. 

Each of the Board committees has its own terms of 

reference that sets out its purposes, authority, duties,  

and responsibilities. 

The following table provides an overview of the responsibilities between the Board Committees.

Board Committee Terms Of Reference

Audit Committee

The Board Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its statutory and fiduciary 
duties. The committee provides an objective review of the reporting of financial 
information and the internal control environment, including an understanding of  
the financial, tax and accounting risks.

The Internal Auditor and the External Auditor are both invited to attend meetings  
at the discretion of the committee.

Corporate Governance  
Committee

The Board Corporate Governance Committee assists the Board in ensuring that 
Regional Australia Bank operates in accordance with a clear, consistent and effective 
governance framework that conforms to Regional Australia Bank’s legal and 
governance obligations and the required standards of corporate behaviour.  
The committee monitors legal and regulatory developments relating to the 
governance framework to ensure it is operating against best practice.

The Board Corporate Governance Committee also undertakes the responsibility 
of assessing all persons, including existing directors, prior to their appointment 
or election as a director as to their fitness and propriety and their BEAR regime 
accountability. The committee makes recommendations to the Board on candidates 
for appointment as director.

The Board Corporate Governance Committee also comprises the Board Remuneration 
Committee. This committee makes recommendations to the Board on the 
remuneration to be paid to directors, the CEO and Executive Managers, to ensure it 
remains market-competitive and adheres to legislative and prudential requirements.

Risk Committee

The Board Risk Committee assists the Board in ensuring there is an efficient and 
effective risk framework to bring the transparency, focus and independent judgement 
to oversee Regional Australia Bank’s operations. This involves evaluating the adequacy 
and effectiveness of Regional Australia Bank’s risk management framework, risk 
appetite and the appropriateness of the risk culture.

The Board and its committees are structured  

to ensure that they are of a size that facilitates  

effective and efficient decision making; comprise 

directors with a broad range of skills and experience  

from a diverse range of backgrounds appropriate to 

Regional Australia Bank’s business; and that the Board 

Chairman, Audit Committee Chair and Risk Committee 

Chair are independent directors.
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Directors’ Independence

APRA’s Prudential Standard CPS 510 on governance 

mandates that Authorised Deposit Taking Institutions 

(ADI’s) must have a majority of independent directors 

at all times. All the directors of Regional Australia  

Bank serve in a non-executive capacity and the 

Board has adopted specific principles in determining  

directors’ independence. 

The Board assesses independence annually in accordance 

with its Governance Policy, requiring each director 

to disclose all information that could reasonably be 

considered to influence their capacity to act as an 

independent director.

Access to Independent Information and Advice

In order to fulfil their responsibilities, the Board 

collectively, and each director individually, has the right 

to engage independent professional advice whenever 

it is considered necessary. Individual directors may 

seek independent professional advice on any matter 

connected with the discharge of their responsibilities 

to ensure they exercise their objective, unfettered and 

independent judgement as a director.

In addition, the Board, the Board’s committees, and 

individual directors, at the expense of Regional Australia 

Bank, may obtain relevant professional advice, as 

required, to assist in undertaking their role. All directors 

have unrestricted access to records and information of 

Regional Australia Bank to assist with discharging their 

fiduciary duty.

ACTING ETHICALLY AND RESPONSIBLY 
– OUR GUIDING PRINCIPLES

The Board, CEO, Executive Management, and all 

employees are responsible for adhering to, and 

promoting, high standards of ethical behaviour, values, 

behaviours, and decision making.

Code of Conduct

The Board operates in a manner reflecting Regional 

Australia Bank’s values and behaviours. To support this, 

the Board has developed a Code of Conduct which is 

reviewed annually to ensure it reflects and instils the 

highest standards and level of behaviour and practices 

as well as providing a guideline for ethical behaviour  

and decision making expected by all Regional Australia 

Bank employees.

Conflict of Interest

In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and 

Regional Australia Bank’s Constitution and Conflicts of 

Interest Policy, each director must ensure that no action 

or decision is taken that places their interest in front of 

the interests of Regional Australia Bank. Directors and 

Executive Management are required to disclose to the 

Board any material matter (whether actual or potential)  

in which they may have an interest.

The Board has established a process for the handling of 

actual or potential conflicts of interest with respect to the 

activities or decision-making responsibilities of Regional 

Australia Bank’s directors and Executive Management. 

Directors are also given the opportunity to declare any 

interest as a standing item in each of the respective Board 

committees and Board meeting agendas.

 Management Delegation

The Board has delegated authority to the CEO to ensure 

Regional Australia Bank’s strategic objectives are achieved. 

The CEO is responsible for day-to-day leadership 

100% of the Board are 
independent directors*

*At the time of the Board authorising this statement 100% of the 

Board were independent directors. From 1 July 2021-30 June 2022 

87.5% of the Board were independent directors.
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and management of Regional Australia Bank’s business  

activities and implementation of Board-approved strategies, 

policies, resolutions, and directions.

As a key operation of the Governance Framework to ensure 

responsible decision making, the CEO has a structure of 

management committees to make recommendations to the 

CEO in relation to operational matters. Delegations from 

the CEO to management are clearly documented. They are 

designed to accelerate decision-making and to improve 

efficiency in member service and experience as well as 

managing business risks.

Whistle-blower Protection

Regional Australia Bank has a strong commitment to 

adherence to a culture of risk management and compliance, 

ethical behaviour, and good corporate governance. 

Regional Australia Bank’s whistle-blower protection policy 

enables individuals to voice concerns or escalate serious 

matters on a confidential basis, without fear of reprisal, 

dismissal, or discriminatory treatment. 

RESPONSIBLE REMUNERATION

The Board, through the oversight of the Board Corporate 

Governance Committee, is responsible for remuneration 

practices that assist in attracting and retaining Executive 

Management and other individuals who are critical to 

Regional Australia Bank’s success. 

It is Regional Australia Bank’s objective to provide maximum 

member benefit from the retention of a high-quality 

Board and leadership team by remunerating fairly and 

responsibly by reference to prevailing market benchmarks 

and performance. 

In accordance with the requirements of APRA’s Prudential 

Standard CPS 510 on governance, Regional Australia Bank 

has a structure for managing approval of remuneration for 

Board, the CEO, and Executive Management. 

The Board regularly undertakes an independent review of 

remuneration to ensure that remuneration practices are 

prudent and consistent with competitive market practices.

SAFEGUARD INTEGRITY IN  
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board of Regional Australia Bank is committed to 

ensuring that the financial reports present a true and fair 

view and are constructed in accordance with applicable 

accounting rules and policies. The Board, through the 

responsibility of the Board Audit Committee, maintain a 

close focus to ensure the external auditor is independent 

and serves member’s interests by accessing the true 

financial position of Regional Australia Bank.

SOCIAL IMPACT AND SUSTAINABILITY

The Board of Regional Australia Bank is committed to ensuring 

that a sustainable business is a good business. This is achieved 

through long term decisions to serve members / customers 

well and help our communities grow into the future.

The Board has implemented an Environmental Policy 

Framework that focuses on the commitment to act as a 

responsible partner to all the banks stakeholders and to 

ensure that Regional Australia Bank manages its business in 

an environmentally sustainable manner.

This framework summarises Regional Australia Banks 

position on environmental matters and looks to identify, 

address and manage the risks that emerge through the 

bank’s operations and business relationships.

RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISK

A key responsibility of the Board is to oversee the 

establishment and ongoing monitoring of risk management 

systems and frameworks and for setting the bank’s risk 

appetite, as well as overseeing risks inherent in Regional 

Australia Bank’s business. The Board has delegated to the 

CEO the responsibility for implementing a system of internal 

controls to identify and manage these risks.

Each Executive Manager has clearly outlined accountabilities 

in their respective roles and are accountable to the CEO 

that the systems of risk management and internal controls 

under their respective business areas operate effectively to 

manage the risks of Regional Australia Bank.
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There are established policies for oversight and 

management of material risks. These are embedded 

as controls to manage Regional Australia Bank’s 

material business risks. Further explanatory notes on 

the management of risks are included throughout the 

financial report.

Regional Australia Bank operates using a Three Lines of 

Defence approach to risk management which assists in 

ensuring a strong risk culture. 

All employees at Regional Australia Bank are responsible 

for managing risk and operating within the set risk profile 

of the bank.

The approach of the Three Lines of Defence operating 

structure is outlined in the diagram below:

3 Lines of Defence, Risk Governance Model

Layer 1: Have primary responsibility 

for effective management of risk 

within their operations, under the 

risk management policies

Layer 2: Develop, monitor and 

report on the implementation of 

the risk management framework. 

Facilitate the implementation of risk 

frameworks with Line Managers

Layer 3: Independent Assurance to  

Board, board committees and management 

regarding the adequacy and effectiveness 

of the risk management framework and 

internal control environment 

3
Independent 

Assurance

Responsible Executives:

• Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

• Chief Governance & Legal Officer /  

Company Secretary (CG&LO / CS)

Responsible Executives:

• Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

• Chief Risk Officer (CRO)

Responsible Executives:

• Deputy CEO (DCEO)

• Chief Financial Officer (CFO)

• Chief Information Officer (CIO)

• Chief Operating Officer (COO)

• Chief Product Officer (CPO)
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FINANCIAL 
REPORT

DIRECTORS' REPORT

Principal Activities

Results

Directors' Qualifications, Experience and Special Responsibilities

Name Experience and Special Responsibilities

Graham Olrich 

Alison Sheridan

Geoff Thompson 

Michael Fenech 

Brian Goodall 

Kate James 

Allan Gordon

David Johnson

Neville Parsons

Sally Mackenzie

The Directors present their report together with the consolidated financial statements of Regional Australia Bank Ltd ("the Company"), and the CMG Funding Trust No.1 ("the 
Trust") for the financial year ended 30 June 2022 and the auditor's report.

BA, CPA, GAICD  Non-Executive Director
 - Director since July 2016
 - Member of the Risk Committee
 - Member of the Audit Committee

B.Ec, LLB, FAIM, MAICD, FIPS  Non-Executive Director
 - Director since July 2007
 - Member of the Corporate Governance Committee
 - Member of the Risk Committee

BA, Mcomm, GAICD Non-Executive Director
 - Director since 1 March 2022
 - Member of the Audit Committee
 - Member of the Risk Committee

BRurSci, GAICD  Non-Executive Director
 - Director since 2008
 - Member of the Corporate Governance Committee   
 - Member of the Risk Committee

B.Bus, Grad Dip Edu  Non-Executive Director
 - Director since 2006
 - Member of the Audit Committee until 25 November 2021
 - Retired on 25 November 2021

B.Ec, GAICD Non-Executive Director
 - Director since 2014
 - Member of the Audit Committee
 - Member & Chair of the Corporate Governance Committee

B.Ec LLB, GAICD  Non-Executive Director
 - Director since 1997
 - Member & Chair of the Corporate Governance Committee until 25 November 2021   
 - Retired on 25 November 2021

 BAgEc (Hons), PhD, GAICD Non-Executive Director

 - Director since 2003
 - Member & Chair of the Risk Committee 
 - Member of the Corporate Governance Committee

BFin Admin, FCA, GAICD  Non-Executive Director
 - Director since 2008
 - Member & Chair of the Audit Committee   

At the date of this report, the Board comprises eight (8) Non-Executive Directors.
The names of the Directors in office at any time during or since the end of the year, together with details of their qualifications, experience and special responsibilities are as 
follows:

Qualifications Position

Dip FS, Dip FS (Credit Union 
Directorship), FAICD

Non-Executive Director

 - Director since 2011
 - Chairman since November 2014
 - Ex-officio Member of the Audit Committee
 - Ex-officio Member of the Corporate Governance Committee  
 - Ex-officio Member of the Risk Committee                    

The profit of the Company for the year before income tax is $24.57mil (2021: $22.43mil) representing a strong result in a challenging economic environment. These results include 
impairment provisions relating to economcis conditions and climate related natural disasters.

The Company is a public company registered under the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) limited by shares. 

The Trust is a Special Purpose Vehicle deemed under the Accounting Standards to be controlled by the Company for the year ended 30 June 2022 (together referred to as "the 
Group"). 

The principal activities of the Company during the year were the provision of retail and commercial financial services to customers in the form of taking deposits and giving
financial accommodation as prescribed by Regional Australia Bank's Constitution.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT Continued

Information on Board and Committee Meetings for the financial year ended 30 June 2022

Attended Attended
Eligible 

to attend
Attended

Eligible 
to attend

Attended

Graham Olrich 15 5                         5 4 4 4 4
Alison Sheridan 15 5                         5 - - 4 4
Geoff Thompson 15      - - 4 4 4 4
Michael Fenech 15 5                         5 4 4 - -
Brian Goodall 7 2                         1 - - - -
Kate James 15 5                         5 - - 4 4
Allan Gordon 8      - - 2 2 - -
David Johnson 15      - - 4 4 4 4
Neville Parsons 15 5                         5 - - 4 4
Sally Mackenzie 3 2                         2 1 1 1 1

Information on Company Secretary

Directors' Benefits

Directors, Officers or Auditors Indemnity

No cover has been provided for the benefit of the auditors of the Company.

Significant Changes in State of Affairs

Significant Events After the Balance Date

The chief operating decision maker, Mr Kevin Dupé retired from the position as Chief Executive of the Group on 1 July 2021 and replacement Mr David Heine was appointed Chief
Executive Officer of the Group effective 1 July 2021.

The Company Secretary is David Munday, LLB, BComm, Grad Dip Applied Corporate Governance, AGIA, GAICD. Mr Munday was appointed to the position in 2004. Mr Andrew 
Gahan, LLB, BComm, Diploma Financial Planning was appointed Assistant Company Secretary in 2022.

No Director has received or become entitled to receive, during, or since the end of the financial year, a benefit because of a contract made by the Company with a Director, a firm
of which a Director is a member, or an entity in which a Director has a substantial financial interest, other than that disclosed in Note E2 of the financial report.

Insurance premiums have been paid to insure each of the Directors and Officers of the Company, against any costs and expenses incurred by them in defending any legal
proceeding arising out of their conduct while acting in their capacity as an officer of the Company. In accordance with normal commercial practice, disclosure of the premium
amount and the nature of the insured liabilities is prohibited by a confidentiality clause in the contract. 

There have been no further significant events occurring after balance date which may affect the company's operations or results of those operations.

Other than noted above, there were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company during the financial year.

Since the end of the previous financial year, the Company has not indemnified or made a relevant agreement for indemnifying, against a liability, any person who is or has been an
officer or auditor of the Group.

15
8

15

4

Eligible 
to attend

15
15
15
15
8

15

Eligible 
to attend

Board Corporate Governance Audit Risk
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DIRECTORS' REPORT Continued

Likely Developments and Expected Results

in the financial years subsequent to this financial year.

Rounding

Non-Audit Services

$
Taxation Services 22,700               

Total 22,700               

Auditor's Independence Declaration

Public Prudential Disclosures

Graham Olrich

Director Director

The financial report is presented in Australian Dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($'000) unless otherwise stated under the option available to the
Company under ASIC Corporations (Rounding in financial / directors' reports) Instruments 2016/191. 

No matter, circumstance or likely development in the operations has arisen since the end of the financial year that has significantly affected or may significantly affect:

(i)    the operations of the Group;

(ii)   the results of those operations; or

(iii)  the state of affairs of the Company.

Date: 30 September 2022

The following non-audit services were provided by the Company's auditor, KPMG. The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services is compatible with the general
standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The nature and scope of each type of non-audit service provided means that auditor independence
was not compromised.

KPMG  received or are due to receive the following amounts for the provision of non-audit services for the year ended 30 June 2022:

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out following the Directors' Report.

As an Authorised Deposit taking Institution (ADI) regulated by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA), the Company is required to publicly disclose certain
information in respect of:

-  Consolidated equity and regulatory capital;

-  Risk exposure and assessment, and

-  Remuneration disclosures.

The disclosures are to be found on the Company's website: 
 www.regionalaustraliabank.com.au/about-us/corporate-documents/reports/prudential-information-disclosures

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.  

Geoff Thompson
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Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under 

Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 
 

To the Directors of Regional Australia Bank Ltd  

 
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit of Regional Australia 
Bank Ltd for the financial year ended 30 June 2022 there have been: 

(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the 
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to 
the audit. 

 
KPM_INI_01          

 
PAR_SIG_01 PAR_NAM_01  PAR_POS_01 PAR_DAT_01 PAR_CIT_01      

 
 
KPMG        Nicholas Buchanan   
         
        Partner 
 
        Sydney 
 
        30 September 2022  
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the Year Ended 30 June 2022

 Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Interest income using effective interest method B1 74,276                     73,326                     80,031                     78,503                    

Interest expense using effective interest method B1 (8,904)                     (12,999)                   (24,546)                    (27,842)                   

Net interest income 65,372                    60,327                    55,485                     50,662                    

Non-interest income B1 8,110                       8,280                       17,846                     17,786                    

Net operating income 73,482                    68,607                    73,331                     68,448                    

Loan impairment release/(expense) C2 b) 126                          876                          126                           876                          

Employee benefits expense E1 a) (24,792)                   (22,760)                   (24,792)                    (22,760)                   

Occupancy expense (2,973)                     (3,176)                     (2,973)                      (3,176)                     

Depreciation and amortisation expense (1,698)                     (2,128)                     (1,698)                      (2,128)                     

Information technology and communication expense (6,617)                     (6,731)                     (6,617)                      (6,731)                     

Member transaction costs (6,079)                     (5,765)                     (6,079)                      (5,765)                     

Other operating expenses (6,875)                     (6,495)                     (6,724)                      (6,336)                     

Total operating expenses (48,908)                   (46,178)                   (48,757)                    (46,020)                   

Profit before income tax 24,574                    22,429                    24,574                     22,429                    

Income tax expense B2 a) (7,264)                     (6,261)                     (7,264)                      (6,261)                     

Net profit after tax attributable to members 17,310                    16,168                    17,310                     16,168                    

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss
Revaluation of Other Financial Assets (462)                         1                               (462)                         1                              
Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income B2 b) 139                          -                               139                           -                               

(323)                         1                               (323)                         1                              
Items that will be reclassified to profit and loss upon realisation
Revaluation of Land and Buildings -                               (199)                         -                                (199)                        

-                               (199)                         -                                (199)                        

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (323)                         (198)                         (323)                         (198)                        

Total comprehensive income for the year 16,987                    15,970                    16,987                     15,970

 

 Consolidated  Parent 

The accompanying notes should be read in conjunction with these financial statements

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the Year Ended 30 June 2022

 Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Interest income using effective interest method B1 74,276                     73,326                     80,031                     78,503                    

Interest expense using effective interest method B1 (8,904)                     (12,999)                   (24,546)                    (27,842)                   

Net interest income 65,372                    60,327                    55,485                     50,662                    

Non-interest income B1 8,110                       8,280                       17,846                     17,786                    

Net operating income 73,482                    68,607                    73,331                     68,448                    

Loan impairment release/(expense) C2 b) 126                          876                          126                           876                          

Employee benefits expense E1 a) (24,792)                   (22,760)                   (24,792)                    (22,760)                   

Occupancy expense (2,973)                     (3,176)                     (2,973)                      (3,176)                     

Depreciation and amortisation expense (1,698)                     (2,128)                     (1,698)                      (2,128)                     

Information technology and communication expense (6,617)                     (6,731)                     (6,617)                      (6,731)                     

Member transaction costs (6,079)                     (5,765)                     (6,079)                      (5,765)                     

Other operating expenses (6,875)                     (6,495)                     (6,724)                      (6,336)                     

Total operating expenses (48,908)                   (46,178)                   (48,757)                    (46,020)                   

Profit before income tax 24,574                    22,429                    24,574                     22,429                    

Income tax expense B2 a) (7,264)                     (6,261)                     (7,264)                      (6,261)                     

Net profit after tax attributable to members 17,310                    16,168                    17,310                     16,168                    

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss
Revaluation of Other Financial Assets (462)                         1                               (462)                         1                              
Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income B2 b) 139                          -                               139                           -                               

(323)                         1                               (323)                         1                              
Items that will be reclassified to profit and loss upon realisation
Revaluation of Land and Buildings -                               (199)                         -                                (199)                        

-                               (199)                         -                                (199)                        

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (323)                         (198)                         (323)                         (198)                        

Total comprehensive income for the year 16,987                    15,970                    16,987                     15,970

 

 Consolidated  Parent 

The accompanying notes should be read in conjunction with these financial statements
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June 2022

Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents B3 279,552                  239,697                  178,381                   211,518                  

Investments at amortised cost C4 495,139                  343,358                  495,139                   343,358                  

Loans, advances and notes from securitisation trust at amortised cost C2 2,354,981               2,218,794               2,969,981               2,733,794               

Trade and other receivables C6 1,100                       1,673                       2,606                       3,093                       

Other Financial Assets C3 2,475                       2,554                       2,475                       2,554                       

Land and buildings F5 4,765                       4,903                       4,765                       4,903                       

Plant and equipment 2,910                       2,742                       2,910                       2,742                       

Intangible Assets - computer software 943                          1,418                       943                           1,418                       

Right of use assets F2 4,909                       4,928                       4,909                       4,928                       

Deferred tax assets B2 b) 2,811                       3,039                       2,811                       3,039                       

Total Assets 3,149,585               2,823,107               3,664,920               3,311,347               

LIABILITIES

Deposits C1 2,699,099               2,394,363               2,699,099               2,394,363               

Trade and other payables C7 18,451                     14,414                     18,451                     14,414                    

Term Funding Facility C8 212,958                  212,958                  212,958                   212,958                  

F2 4,951                       4,839                       4,951                       4,839                       

2,716                       2,101                       2,716                       2,101                       

Employee Benefits E1 b) 4,415                       4,430                       4,415                       4,430                       

Provisions 136                          129                          136                           129                          

Other Borrowings C2 h) -                               -                               515,335                   488,240                  

Total Liabilities 2,942,726               2,633,234               3,458,061               3,121,474               

Net Assets 206,859                  189,873                  206,859                   189,873                  

EQUITY

Redeemable member shares D2 1,143                       1,165                       1,143                       1,165                       

Reserves D3 933                          1,256                       933                           1,256                       

Retained earnings 156,785                  139,454                  156,785                   139,454                  

Contributed Equity 47,998                     47,998                     47,998                     47,998                    

Total Equity 206,859                  189,873                  206,859                   189,873                  

 Consolidated  Parent 

The accompanying notes should be read in conjunction with these financial statements

Current tax liabilities

Lease Liabilities

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the Year Ended 30 June 2022

 Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Interest income using effective interest method B1 74,276                     73,326                     80,031                     78,503                    

Interest expense using effective interest method B1 (8,904)                     (12,999)                   (24,546)                    (27,842)                   

Net interest income 65,372                    60,327                    55,485                     50,662                    

Non-interest income B1 8,110                       8,280                       17,846                     17,786                    

Net operating income 73,482                    68,607                    73,331                     68,448                    

Loan impairment release/(expense) C2 b) 126                          876                          126                           876                          

Employee benefits expense E1 a) (24,792)                   (22,760)                   (24,792)                    (22,760)                   

Occupancy expense (2,973)                     (3,176)                     (2,973)                      (3,176)                     

Depreciation and amortisation expense (1,698)                     (2,128)                     (1,698)                      (2,128)                     

Information technology and communication expense (6,617)                     (6,731)                     (6,617)                      (6,731)                     

Member transaction costs (6,079)                     (5,765)                     (6,079)                      (5,765)                     

Other operating expenses (6,875)                     (6,495)                     (6,724)                      (6,336)                     

Total operating expenses (48,908)                   (46,178)                   (48,757)                    (46,020)                   

Profit before income tax 24,574                    22,429                    24,574                     22,429                    

Income tax expense B2 a) (7,264)                     (6,261)                     (7,264)                      (6,261)                     

Net profit after tax attributable to members 17,310                    16,168                    17,310                     16,168                    

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss
Revaluation of Other Financial Assets (462)                         1                               (462)                         1                              
Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income B2 b) 139                          -                               139                           -                               

(323)                         1                               (323)                         1                              
Items that will be reclassified to profit and loss upon realisation
Revaluation of Land and Buildings -                               (199)                         -                                (199)                        

-                               (199)                         -                                (199)                        

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (323)                         (198)                         (323)                         (198)                        

Total comprehensive income for the year 16,987                    15,970                    16,987                     15,970

 

 Consolidated  Parent 

The accompanying notes should be read in conjunction with these financial statements
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
As at 30 June 2022

Contributed Equity  Member Shares  Other Reserves  Retained Earnings  Total 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Balance at 1 July 2020 47,998                 1,192                       2,989                       121,724                   173,903                  
Total Net profit after tax attributable to members -                            -                               -                               16,168                     16,168                    

-                            -                               1                               -                                1                              
-                            -                               (1,734)                     1,535                       (199)                        
-                            (27)                           -                               27                             -                               

Balance at 30 June 2021 47,998                 1,165                       1,256                       139,454                   189,873                  

 Contributed Equity  Member Shares  Other Reserves  Retained Earnings  Total 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Balance at 1 July 2021 47,998                 1,165                       1,256                       139,454                   189,873                  

Total Net profit after tax attributable to members -                            -                               -                               17,310                     17,310                    
-                            -                               (323)                         -                                (323)                        
-                            (22)                           -                               22                             -                               

Balance at 30 June 2022 47,998                 1,143                       933                          156,785                   206,859                  

 Contributed Equity  Member Shares  Other Reserves  Retained Earnings  Total 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Balance at 1 July 2020 47,998                 1,192                       2,989                       121,724                   173,903                  
Total Net profit after tax attributable to members -                            -                               -                               16,168                     16,168                    
Revaluation of Other Financial Assets  -  - 1                                - 1                              
Revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment  -  - (1,734)                     1,535                       (199)                        
Transfer from capital account on (redemption)/creation of shares  - (27)                            - 27                              - 
Balance at 30 June 2021 47,998                 1,165                       1,256                       139,454                   189,873                  

 Contributed Equity  Member Shares  Other Reserves  Retained Earnings  Total 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Balance at 1 July 2021 47,998                 1,165                       1,256                       139,454                   189,873                  

Total Net profit after tax attributable to members -                            -                               -                               17,310                     17,310                    
Revaluation of Other Financial Assets -                            -                               (323)                         -                                (323)                        

-                            (22)                           -                               22                             -                               

Balance at 30 June 2022 47,998                 1,143                       933                          156,785                   206,859                  

 Transfer from capital account on (redemption)/creation of shares 

The accompanying notes should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.

 Transfer from capital account on (redemption)/creation of shares 

 Revaluation of Property Plant and Equipment 

 Parent 

 Consolidated 

 Transfer from capital account on (redemtpion/creation of shares 

 Revaluation of Other Financial Assets 

 Revaluation of Other Financial Assets 

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the Year Ended 30 June 2022

 Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Interest income using effective interest method B1 74,276                     73,326                     80,031                     78,503                    

Interest expense using effective interest method B1 (8,904)                     (12,999)                   (24,546)                    (27,842)                   

Net interest income 65,372                    60,327                    55,485                     50,662                    

Non-interest income B1 8,110                       8,280                       17,846                     17,786                    

Net operating income 73,482                    68,607                    73,331                     68,448                    

Loan impairment release/(expense) C2 b) 126                          876                          126                           876                          

Employee benefits expense E1 a) (24,792)                   (22,760)                   (24,792)                    (22,760)                   

Occupancy expense (2,973)                     (3,176)                     (2,973)                      (3,176)                     

Depreciation and amortisation expense (1,698)                     (2,128)                     (1,698)                      (2,128)                     

Information technology and communication expense (6,617)                     (6,731)                     (6,617)                      (6,731)                     

Member transaction costs (6,079)                     (5,765)                     (6,079)                      (5,765)                     

Other operating expenses (6,875)                     (6,495)                     (6,724)                      (6,336)                     

Total operating expenses (48,908)                   (46,178)                   (48,757)                    (46,020)                   

Profit before income tax 24,574                    22,429                    24,574                     22,429                    

Income tax expense B2 a) (7,264)                     (6,261)                     (7,264)                      (6,261)                     

Net profit after tax attributable to members 17,310                    16,168                    17,310                     16,168                    

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss
Revaluation of Other Financial Assets (462)                         1                               (462)                         1                              
Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income B2 b) 139                          -                               139                           -                               

(323)                         1                               (323)                         1                              
Items that will be reclassified to profit and loss upon realisation
Revaluation of Land and Buildings -                               (199)                         -                                (199)                        

-                               (199)                         -                                (199)                        

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (323)                         (198)                         (323)                         (198)                        

Total comprehensive income for the year 16,987                    15,970                    16,987                     15,970

 

 Consolidated  Parent 

The accompanying notes should be read in conjunction with these financial statements
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended 30 June 2022

Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Interest received 74,136                     73,347                     79,891                     77,803                    
Dividends received 24                            -                               24                             -                               
Fees and commissions received 8,549                       10,364                     7,616                       7,831                       
Other income 479                          486                          11,061                     12,396                    
Interest paid (8,904)                     (12,999)                   (24,744)                    (27,266)                   
Payments to suppliers and employees (44,697)                   (51,342)                   (44,349)                    (51,060)                   
Income taxes paid (6,282)                     (3,661)                     (6,282)                      (3,661)                     
(Increase)/Decrease in operating assets
Net increase in member loans (135,071)                 (323,294)                 (235,071)                 (408,494)                 
Increase/(Decrease) in operating liabilities
Net increase in member deposits 304,734                  248,243                  304,734                   248,245                  
Net increase in term funding facility -                               212,958                  -                                212,958                  
Net increase in borrowings (securitisation) -                               -                               27,095                     95,966                    
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities B3 c) 192,967                  154,102                  119,975                   164,718                  

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds/(payments) for investments at amortised cost (150,422)                 (42,480)                   (150,422)                 (42,480)                   
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 66                            2,222                       66                             2,222                       
Payments for property, plant and equipment (1,067)                     (324)                         (1,067)                      (324)                        
Purchase of intangible assets (246)                         (867)                         (246)                         (867)                        

Net cash (used in) investing activities (151,669)                 (41,449)                   (151,669)                 (41,449)                   

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payment of lease liabilities (1,443)                     (1,844)                     (1,443)                      (1,844)                     

Net cash (used in) financing activities (1,443)                     (1,844)                     (1,443)                      (1,844)                     

Total net increase (decrease) in cash held 39,855                     110,809                  (33,137)                    121,425                  
Cash at the beginning of year 239,697                  128,888                  211,518                   90,093                    
Cash received on transfer of business
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year B3 a) 279,552                  239,697                  178,381                   211,518                  

 Consolidated  Parent 

The accompanying notes should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the Year Ended 30 June 2022

 Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Interest income using effective interest method B1 74,276                     73,326                     80,031                     78,503                    

Interest expense using effective interest method B1 (8,904)                     (12,999)                   (24,546)                    (27,842)                   

Net interest income 65,372                    60,327                    55,485                     50,662                    

Non-interest income B1 8,110                       8,280                       17,846                     17,786                    

Net operating income 73,482                    68,607                    73,331                     68,448                    

Loan impairment release/(expense) C2 b) 126                          876                          126                           876                          

Employee benefits expense E1 a) (24,792)                   (22,760)                   (24,792)                    (22,760)                   

Occupancy expense (2,973)                     (3,176)                     (2,973)                      (3,176)                     

Depreciation and amortisation expense (1,698)                     (2,128)                     (1,698)                      (2,128)                     

Information technology and communication expense (6,617)                     (6,731)                     (6,617)                      (6,731)                     

Member transaction costs (6,079)                     (5,765)                     (6,079)                      (5,765)                     

Other operating expenses (6,875)                     (6,495)                     (6,724)                      (6,336)                     

Total operating expenses (48,908)                   (46,178)                   (48,757)                    (46,020)                   

Profit before income tax 24,574                    22,429                    24,574                     22,429                    

Income tax expense B2 a) (7,264)                     (6,261)                     (7,264)                      (6,261)                     

Net profit after tax attributable to members 17,310                    16,168                    17,310                     16,168                    

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss
Revaluation of Other Financial Assets (462)                         1                               (462)                         1                              
Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income B2 b) 139                          -                               139                           -                               

(323)                         1                               (323)                         1                              
Items that will be reclassified to profit and loss upon realisation
Revaluation of Land and Buildings -                               (199)                         -                                (199)                        

-                               (199)                         -                                (199)                        

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (323)                         (198)                         (323)                         (198)                        

Total comprehensive income for the year 16,987                    15,970                    16,987                     15,970

 

 Consolidated  Parent 

The accompanying notes should be read in conjunction with these financial statements
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

A ABOUT THIS REPORT

Corporate Information

Basis of Preparation

Statement of Compliance with IFRS

Basis of Consolidation

Segment Reporting

Accounting Policies

(i) Financial Assets

(ii) Impairment of non financial assets

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker 
has been identified as Mr David Heine. Mr Kevin Dupé retired from the position of Chief Executive Officer of the Group on 1 July 2021 and replacement Mr David Heine 
was appointed Chief Executive Officer of the Group from 1 July 2021.

As internal reporting to the Chief Executive Officer is on a 'whole of business' basis, the Group considers there to be one reportable segment.

Amounts are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Group's functional and presentation currency. These amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars ('000), or in certain cases to the nearest dollar, as allowed by ASIC Corporations Instrument 2016/191.

The financial statements comply with Australian Accounting Standards as issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

The consolidated financial statements include those of the Company and a Special Purpose Vehicle (the CMG Funding Trust No. 1, the securitisation trust) which relates to 
the issuance of residential mortgage-backed securities (RMBS). RMBS are issued by the securitisation trust and held by the Company for entering into potential repurchase 
agreement with the Reserve Bank of Australia for short term funding requirements. The securitisation trust is consolidated, as the Company has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The securitisation trust's underlying assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and cash flows are 
reported in the Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, Statements of Financial Position, Statements of Changes in Equity and Statements of Cash 
Flows. All inter-company transactions and balances have been eliminated on consolidation including any unrealised profit. The comparative period 30 June 2021 contained 
consolidation entries for the MTG HCCU Trust Repo Series No.1 which ceased to operate on 29 July 2021.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way 
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets under contracts that require delivery of the assets within the period established generally by regulation or 
convention in the market place. 

A financial asset is derecognised where:

●  the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; and

●  either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

The Group assesses at each reporting date or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. If any such indication 
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset's recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of an asset 
exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount and the difference is recognised as the impairment loss. 

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have 
decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment was recognised. The carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 
amount.

The principal activities of the Group are the provision of retail and commercial financial services to customers in the form of taking deposits and giving financial 
accommodation as prescribed by Regional Australia Bank's Constitution.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board. The financial statements 
have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for land and buildings and other financial assets, which have been measured at fair value.

The financial statements of Regional Australia Bank Ltd ("the Company") for the year ended 30 June 2022 were authorised for issuance in accordance with a resolution of 
the Directors on 30 September 2022.

The consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 30 June 2022 comprise Regional Australia Bank Ltd ("the Company"), and the CMG Funding Trust No.1 
("the Trust"), a Special Purpose Vehicle deemed under the Accounting Standards to be controlled by the Company for the year ended 30 June 2022 (together referred to as 
"the Group").  The Group is a for-profit entity and primarily is involved in the provision of financial products, services and associated activities to members. The members 
are the owners of the Company.

The registered office is at Technology Park, Madgwick Drive, Armidale NSW 2350.

The Company is a public company registered under the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) limited by shares.

REGIONAL AUSTRALIA BANK  |  2022 ANNUAL REPORT32



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

A ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)

(iii) Financial instruments

Forward looking adjustments for both macro-economic adjustments and more targeted portfolio / geographical adjustments, reflect reasonable and supportable forecasts 
of potential future conditions that are not captured in a base ECL calculation.

Macro-economic factors taken into consideration include, but are not limited to, unemployment, interest rates, gross domestic product residential property prices. 
Portfolio and geographical adjustment taken into consideration include, but are not limited to, portfolio composition and environmental conditions. The factors require an 
evaluation of both the current and forecast direction of the economic and environmental cycle.

Incorporating forward looking information, including macro-economic forecasts increases the degree of judgement required to assess how the changes in these data 
points, will affect ECLs. The methodologies and assumptions, including any forecasts if future economic and environmental conditions are reviewed regularly.

Classification and measurement of financial instruments
(a) The Cash and cash equivalents along with Investments at Amortised Cost are held by the Group in a separate portfolio to provide interest income and meet liquidity 
requirements. The Group considers these securities are held within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows, however, sales may 
occur that would be incidental to the business model. The financial assets have a maturity no longer than 5 years and contractual terms of these assets give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. These assets therefore have been classified as 
financial assets held at amortised cost.

(b) Loans and advances to members are classified at amortised cost. The Group considers these securities are held within a business model whose objective is achieved by 
collecting contractual cash flows. The financial assets have a maturity no longer than 30 years and contractual terms of these assets give rise on specified dates to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. These assets therefore have been classified as financial assets held at 
amortised cost.

(c) Trade and other receivables are classified at amortised cost as they are held to collect under the Group's business model. 

(d) Other Financial assets are equity securities that represent investments the Group intends to hold for long term strategic purposes. As permitted by AASB 9, the Group 
has designated these investments at the date of initial application as measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). 

Impairment of financial assets recorded at amortised cost

The EAD represents the expected exposure at default, taking into account the repayment of principal and interest from the balance sheet date to the default event 
together with any expected drawdown of a facility.

The 12-months ECL is equal to the discounted sum of monthly PD over the next 12 months of monthly PD multiplied by LGD and EAD. Lifetime ECL is calculated using the 
discounted sum of monthly PD over the full expected remaining life multiplied by LGD and EAD.

Incorporation of Forward Looking information
The Group uses a range of relevant forward looking data, including macro economic forecasts and assumptions, for the determination of unbiased general economic 
adjustments and any idiosyncratic or targeted portfolio / geographical adjustments, in order to support the calculation of ECLs.

Loans and the related ECL are written off, either partially or in full, when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Indicators which trigger a write-off may include: 
bankruptcy, restructuring where there is a high improbability of recovery of part of the remaining exposure or when there is a high improbability of recovery of the 
remaining loan exposure or certainty that no recovery can be realised. If a provision for impairment has been recognised in relation to a loan, write offs are made against 
the provision. If no provision for impairment has previously been recognised, write offs are recognised as expenses in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income.

For investments recorded at amortised cost AASB 9 requires the recognition of 12 month expected credit losses (the portion of lifetime expected credit losses from default 
events that are expected within 12 months of the reporting date) if credit risk has not significantly increased since initial recognitions ("Stage 1"), and lifetime expected 
credit losses for financial instruments for which the credit risk has significantly increased since initial recognition ("Stage 2") or which are credit impaired ("Stage 3"). 

Calculation of expected credit losses (ECL)
Expected credit losses (ECLs) are calculated using three main parameters i.e. a probability of default (PD), a loss given default (LGD) and an exposure at default (EAD). 
These parameters are generally derived from statistical models combined with historical, current and forward looking information, including macro economic data.

For accounting purposes, the 12 months and lifetime PD represent the expected point-in-time probability of a default over the next 12 months and remaining lifetime of 
the financial instrument, respectively, based on conditions existing at the balance sheet date and future economic conditions that affect the credit risk.

The LGD represents expected loss conditional on default, taking into account the mitigating effect of collateral, its expected value when realised and the time value of 
money. 

Determining a significant increase in credit Risk (SICR)
The Group assess when a significant increase in credit risk has occurred using qualitative and quantitative information. Information used included internal risk grade 
indicators, hardship applications and loan segment information. As a backstop, financial instruments that are 30 days or more past due are treated as "Stage 2".  Exposures 
move back to "Stage 1" once they no longer meet the criteria for a significant increase in credit risk.

Definition of default
The Group uses the definition of default aligned to the internal credit risk management framework. Default is generally defined as the point in time when the borrower is 
unlikely to meet its credit obligations in full, without recourse by the Consolidated Entity to take realisation of collateral; or the borrower is 90 days or more past due. 
When this occurs the loan is placed in stage 3 and a specific provision (or impairment) is estimated against the loan. This provision is measured as the difference between 
the asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the instrument's effective interest rate. For impaired financial assets 
drawn and undrawn components, expected credit loss also reflect any credit losses related to the portfolio of the loan commitment that is expect to be drawn down over 
the remaining life of the instrument. When a financial asset is credit impaired, interest ceases to be recognised on the regular accrual basis, which accrues income based 
on the gross carrying amount of the asset. Rather, interest income is calculated by applying the original effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the asset, which is 
the gross carrying amount less the related loan loss provision. The best estimate of a loan loss is calculated using the weighted average of the shortfall gross carrying 
amount minus discounted expected future cash flow. Cash flows from collateral are included in the measurement of the expected credit losses of the related financial 
asset. The estimation of future cash flows are subject to significant estimation, uncertainty and assumptions.

Whilst Cash and cash equivalents, Investments at amortised cost and trade receivables are subject to the impairment requirements of AASB 9, the identified impairment 
loss is immaterial.

Additional information about how the Group measures the allowance for impairment is described in Note C2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

A ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)

(iv) Leases

● impairment assessment and charges on loans and advances (C2a);
● fair value of financial assets and liabilities (C3);

Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted at the Group's incremental borrowing 
rate.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the 
initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the 
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located.

At Commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on 
the basis of its relative stand-alone price. However, for leases of property the Group has elected not to separate non-lease components and account for the lease and 
associated non-lease components as a single lease component.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the end of the lease term. In addition, the right-of-use 
asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in 'property, plant and equipment' and lease liabilities in 'loans and 
borrowings' in the statement of financial position.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

Other significant accounting policies can be found next to the note to which they relate.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

As a lessee, the Group leases assets including property and equipment. Under AASB 16, the Group recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for most of these 
leases - i.e. these leases are on-balance sheet.

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets and short-term leases. The group recognises the lease 
payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

New accounting standards and interpretations not yet adopted

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that may have a 
financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

There are no new standards that have not yet been adopted which are expected to have a significant impact on the Group.

Further information on specific judgements, assumptions made and estimates applied, are contained within the notes to the financial statements.

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has used its judgements, assumptions and applied estimates of future events. Some of these 
include areas involving:

At inception of a contract the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains a lease based on the definition of a lease, as explained in Note F2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

B OUR BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

B1 INCOME AND INTEREST EXPENSE

(i)   Interest income and expense

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Interest Income using the effective interest method

Cash and cash equivalents 700                          343                          700                           343                          
Investments at Amortised Cost 1,737                       1,731                       1,737                       1,731                       
Loans and advances to members 71,448                     70,861                     70,750                     70,359                    
Interest income accrued on impaired financial assets 166                          202                          166                           202                          
Other interest income 225                          189                          28                             62                            
Interest income on notes receivable from securitisation trust -                               -                               6,651                       5,807                       
Total interest income using the effective interest method 74,276                    73,326                    80,031                     78,503                    

Interest Expense using the effective interest method
Deposits 8,691                       12,850                     8,691                       12,850                    
Other Borrowings 213                          149                          15,855                     14,992                    
Total interest expense using the effective interest method 8,904                       12,999                    24,546                     27,842                    

Net Interest Income 65,372                    60,327                    55,485                     50,661                    

(ii) Fees and commission income

Non-Interest Income
Loan fees 1,764                       1,865                       1,778                       1,893                       
Transaction fees 3,051                       3,124                       2,818                       2,808                       
Insurance commissions 1,085                       1,078                       1,085                       1,078                       
Payment Systems Income 1,731                       1,726                       1,731                       1,726                       
Write-offs recovered 185                          267                          185                           267                          
Other non-interest income 294                          220                          10,249                     10,015                    

Total non-interest income 8,110                       8,280                       17,846                     17,786                    

Total Net Operating Income 73,482                    68,607                    73,331                     68,448                    

Loan interest is calculated on the basis of daily balance outstanding and is charged in arrears to a member's account on the last day of each month. Interest income on 
impaired loans is recognised using the original effective interest rate.

Insurance commissions are recognised once the performance obligation is satisfied. Insurance commissions which are earned on an on-going basis after an initial 
successful customer referral are required to be recognised as a contract asset under AASB 15, Note C3. The Group’s performance obligations are to introduce or refer 
successful insurance policy applications. The performance obligations are therefore satisfied at the point in time the policy is placed by the provider. Cash is received each 
month based on the premium paid by the client in the previous month. Trail ceases once the policy is terminated.

 Consolidated 

Fee income earned or expenses incurred which are associated with the origination of loans and advances or financial liabilities are deferred and form part of the amortised 
cost of the asset or liability and result in an adjustment to the effective interest rate method.

Transaction fees, payment service income, write-offs recovered and other non interest income are recognised at a point in time in which the transaction takes place and 
the related performance obligation has been completed.

 Parent 

All Interest income and interest expense is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a 
financial instrument over the relevant period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through 
the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. 

The Group earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services it provides to its members. Under AASB 15, the assessment is based on whether the Group 
has satisfied its performance obligations under the contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

B2 TAX

a) Income Tax

2022 2021 2022 2021
Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable: $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Profit from continuing operations before income tax expense 24,574                     22,429                     24,574                     22,429                    

Prima facie tax calculated at 30% payable on the profit (2021: 30%) 7,372                       6,729                       7,372                       6,729                       

Add tax effect of:
Imputation credits (7)                             (0)                             (7)                              (0)                             
Sundry items (101)                         (158)                         (101)                         (158)                        
(Over)/Under-provision for income tax in prior year -                               (310)                         -                                (310)                        

Income tax attributable to profit 7,264                       6,261                       7,264                       6,261                      

Current tax charge 6,897                       5,935                       6,897                       5,935                       
Deferred Tax 367                          326                          367                           326                          

7,264                       6,261                       7,264                       6,261                      

b) Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:
Deferred tax assets
Plant, property and equipment 238                          362                          238                           362                          
Loan provisions 1,619                       1,787                       1,619                       1,787                       
Employee leave benefits 1,325                       1,329                       1,325                       1,329                       
Accrued expenses 47                            47                            47                             47                            
Other 52                            39                            52                             39                            

3,280                       3,563                       3,280                       3,563                       

Deferred tax liabilities
Other Financial Asset (30)                                                    (169) (30)                           (169)                        
Property Plant and Equipment -                                                               - -                                -                               
Other (439)                         (356)                         (439)                         (356)                        

(469)                         (524)                         (469)                         (524)                        

Net deferred tax assets 2,811                       3,039                       2,811                       3,039                       

Movements:
Opening balance at 1 July 3,038                       3,365                       3,038                       3,365                       
Credited/(charged) to the income statement (367)                         (326)                         (367)                         (326)                        
Credited/(charged) to other comprehensive income 139                          (0)                             139                           (0)                             
Closing balance at 30 June 2,810                       3,038                       2,810 3,038                       

Deferred tax assets to be recovered after more than 12 months 3,280                       3,563                       3,280                       3,563                       
3,280                       3,563                       3,280                       3,563                       

Deferred tax liabilities to be recovered after more than 12 months 469                          524                          469                           524                          

469                          524                          469                           524                          

c) Franking Account

57,361                     53,700 57,361 53,700

6,129                       3,661                       6,129                       3,661                       

10                            -                               10                             -                               

63,500                    57,361                    63,500                     57,361                    

 Franking credits that will arise from payment of income tax instalments as at the end of 
the financial year 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
in the financial statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a 
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or 
the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses, if available, only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be 
available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

The income tax expense or income for the period is the tax payable on the current period's taxable income based on the applicable income tax rate adjusted by changes in 
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

 Franking credits that will arise from receipt of dividends recognised as
 receivables as at the end of the financial year 

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In 
this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

 Consolidated 

 The amount of franking credits available for the subsequent financial year are: 

 Franking account balance as at the end of the financial year at 30%  (2021: 30%) 

 Parent 

 Franking account balance for future reporting periods 
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B3 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

a) Parent and Consolidated Reconciliations of cash

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cash on hand and at bank 109,566                  35,798                     8,395                       7,619                       
Short term deposits 169,986                  203,899                  169,986                   203,899                  

Total cash and cash equivalents 279,552                  239,697                  178,381                   211,518                  

b) Cash flows presented on a net basis

● customer deposits in and withdrawals from savings, money market and other deposit accounts;
● sales and purchases of maturing certificates of deposit; and
● provision of member loans and the repayment of such loans.

c) Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with profit after income tax

Profit after income tax 17,310                     16,168                     17,310                     16,168                    

Non-cash flows in profit after income tax:

Net movement in revaluation of property, plant and equipment and investments -                               -                               -                                -                               
Amortisation of Intangible Assets 736                          1,000                       736                           1,000                       
Amortisation of Debt Raising facility -                               -                               -                                -                               
Depreciation 2,534                       3,000                       2,534                       3,000                       
Net movement in Provision for loan impairment 558                          1,153                       558                           1,153                       

Changes in assets and liabilities:

(Increase) in member loans (gross) (135,629)                 (324,447)                 (235,629)                 (409,647)                 
(Increase)/decrease in receivables 574                          2,263                       487                           2,135                       
(Increase)/decrease in other assets (2,777)                     (3,093)                     (2,777)                      (3,093)                     
(Increase)/decrease in deferred tax asset 284                          277                          284                           277                          
Increase/(decrease) in provisions (7)                             66                            (7)                              66                            
Increase/(decrease) in deposits 304,734                  248,244                  304,734                   248,244                  
Increase/(decrease) in term funding facility -                               212,958                  -                                212,958                  
Increase/(decrease) in income taxes payable 557                          2,274                       557                           2,274                       
Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability 56                            (49)                           56                             (49)                           
Increase/(decrease) in other borrowings (securitisation) -                               -                               27,095                     95,966                    
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 4,037                       (5,712)                     4,037                       (5,734)                     

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 192,967                  154,102                  119,975                   164,718                  

The entity's exposure to interest rate risk is discussed in Note C5. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each 
class of cash and cash equivalents mentioned above. 

 Cash flows arising from the following activities are presented on a net basis in the Statements of cash flows: 

Cash on hand and at the bank held in the Trust is restricted for Trust use only.

For the purposes of the Statements of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand, cash equivalents and 'at call’ deposits, net of overdrafts with other financial institutions. 
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statements of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the Statements of financial position as follows:

Cash and short-term deposits in the Statements of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand and short term deposits with an original maturity of three months 
or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in values.

 Consolidated  Parent 

For the purposes of the Statements of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents net of outstanding bank overdrafts.
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C BANKING ACTIVITIES AND RISK MANAGEMENT

C1 DEPOSITS

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Member call deposits (including members' shares) 1,986,669               1,630,243               1,986,669               1,630,243               
Member term deposits 712,430                  764,120                  712,430                   764,120                  

Total Deposits 2,699,099               2,394,363               2,699,099               2,394,363               

a) Deposit Maturity analysis
At call 1,986,669               1,630,243               1,986,669               1,630,243               
Not longer than 3 months 328,522                  341,783                  328,522                   341,783                  
Longer than 3 months and not longer than 6 months 151,822                  171,834                  151,822                   171,834                  
Longer than 6 months and not longer than 12 months 192,029                  213,601                  192,029                   213,601                  
Longer than 12 months 40,057                     36,902                     40,057                     36,902                    

2,699,099               2,394,363               2,699,099               2,394,363               

C2 LOANS, ADVANCES AND NOTES FROM SECURITISATION TRUST

2022 2021 2022 2021

Loans and advances to members $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Personal Loans 46,851                     60,769                     46,851                     60,769                    
Mortgage Loans 2,088,228               1,920,763               2,088,228               1,920,763               
Commercial Loans 195,492                  211,349                  195,492                   211,349                  
Revolving Credit 29,807                     31,869                     29,807                     31,869                    
Total loans and advances 2,360,379               2,224,750               2,360,379               2,224,750               

Total provision for impairment (5,398)                     (5,955)                     (5,398)                      (5,955)                     

Net loans and advances to members 2,354,981               2,218,794               2,354,981               2,218,794               

Notes receivable from securitisation trust at amortised cost -                               -                               615,000                   515,000                  

Net loans, advances and notes from securitisation trust 2,354,981               2,218,794               2,969,981               2,733,794               

a) Impairment of loans and advances

All member deposits are initially recognised at the fair value of the amount received adjusted for any transaction costs. After initial recognition, deposits are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Loans and advances to members, including loans to Key Management personnel, are assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that are not quoted 
in an active market. Such assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, inclusive of loss allowance. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into 
account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees and costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Note: At the parent level the receivables from 
the Securitised trust attributable to the Class B notes do not meet the "Solely Payments of Principal and Interest "criteria under AASB 9. These are therefore carried at Fair 
Value through Profit and Loss. As of 30 June 2022 the Fair Value of these receivables approximated the amortised cost value. These amounts eliminate on consolidation.  

 Consolidated 

 Consolidated  Parent 

If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or decreased by adjusting the allowance account. If a future write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to 
'write-offs recovered'.

Refer to Accounting polices iii) Financial Instruments for details on the Group's write-off policy. 

The collective assessment takes account of impairment that is likely to be present in the portfolio utilising an 'expected credit loss' (ECL) model. The model groups financial 
instruments into loan sub-portfolios that exhibit similar characteristics with further categorisation of the loan book into 12 months ECL and lifetime ECL. The 12 months ECL 
is from the date a financial asset is first recognised ("Stage 1"), lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has significantly increased since the initial recognition 
("Stage 2") and for assets that are assessed as credit impaired ("Stage 3") are included in individually assessed allowances. Refer to Accounting polices iii) Financial 
Instruments for details of how the model is calculated and how the movement in credit risk is determined.

The Group assesses the impairment of loans and advances on a forward looking basis. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk. Further details are included in Accounting polices iii) Financial Instruments.

Interest is calculated on the daily balance and posted to the accounts periodically, or on maturity of the term deposit. Interest expense on savings is brought to account on 
an accrual basis. Interest is recognised on an effective interest basis.

 Parent 
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C2 LOANS, ADVANCES AND NOTES FROM SECURITISATION TRUST (continued)

a) Impairment of loans and advances (continued)

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

5,398                       5,955                       
350                          -                                

-                               524                           

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

5,398                       5,955                       
5,261                       5,806                       
5,940                       6,542                       

Model Weighting
60% 60%
10% 10%
30% 30%

As a result of the sensitivity analysis performed for both potential impacts from the potential impact of economic conditions and from potential natural disasters and 
climate uncertainty the ECL model was adjusted by a management overlay with regards to these measured stress testing results. A management overlay was applied to the 
ECL model with regards to these measured stress testing results. The prior year management overlay for the COVID-19 pandemic has been removed as the financial impact 
of the pandemic has diminished.

Downside
The modelled provision for ECL at 30 June 2022 is a probability weighted estimate of the Group’s view of the forward looking distribution of potential outcomes. The base 
scenario has been adjusted with the latest view of available information regarding the various interplay of economic, societal and government responses regarding the 
economic conditions and potential natural disaster and climate uncertainty impacts. The current view is weighted as a 60% probable outcome of a base scenario, a 10% 
upside outcome and a 30 % downside outcome. 

 of which: Management economic uncertainty overlay included in ECL
 of which: Management natural disaster & climate uncertainty overlay 
included in ECL

900                          750                           

The impact of currently economic conditions on the global and domestic economy, with increasing interest rates and elevated inflation rates is creating forward looking 
uncertainty in the economic resilience of the regional Australia economy. This change in economic conditions is reflected in the Group’s assessment of expected credit 
losses through the adjustment via a management overlay to reflect potential deterioration of the credit portfolio through increased interest rates and loan affordability. 
This management overlay has been performed based on number of management judgements, stress testing results and estimates.

100% base scenario

 of which: Management COVID-19 overlay included in ECL

100% downside scenario

The following table indicates the weightings applied by the Consolidated Entity at 30 June 2022

Base
Upside

Reported probability weighted ECL

The Group has also undertaken additional forward looking sensitivity analysis of the credit portfolios in relation to natural disasters and climate uncertainty to 
appropriately apply a prudent management adjustment overlay to the ECL allowance. This adjustment was measured based on results from stress testing the credit 
portfolios to measure changes in exposures and expected credit losses under potential stressed scenarios driven by natural disasters such as flood, bushfires, drought and 
climate uncertainty. These stressed scenarios provided a movement in default and collateral securities based on an alternative severe bad case. The applied adjustments 
were based on management judgment, historical experience, available information and portfolio outlook.

The following sensitivity table shows the reported provision for ECL based on the probability weighted scenarios and what the provisions for ECL would be assuming a 
100% weighting is applied to the base case scenario and to the downside scenario when all other assumptions are held constant as at 30 June 2022

Reported probability weighted ECL
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C2 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO MEMBERS (Continued)
a) Impairment of loans and advances (Continued)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

 12-mth ECL 
 Lifetime ECL not credit 

impaired  
 Lifetime ECL credit 

impaired  
 Collective Provision  Collective Provision  Specific Provision  Total 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

At 1 July 2021 4,389                       185                          1,381                       5,955                       
Transferred to 12 months ECL collectively assessed 24                            (24)                           -                                -                               
Transfer to lifetime ECL not credit impaired collectively assessed (3)                             3                               -                                -                               
Transfer to lifetime ECL credit impaired -                               (12)                           12                             -                               
New and increased provisions net of releases (509)                         (22)                           395                           (136)                        
Impaired loans written off -                               -                               (421)                         (421)                        
At 30 June 2022 3,901                       130                          1,367                       5,398                      

Personal Loans
Mortgage 

Loans Commercial loans
Revolving 

Credit Total
2022 2022 2022 2022

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

At 1 July 2021 1,229                   3,994                       454                          278                           5,955                      
Charge/(Recovery) for the year (250)                     (212)                         (22)                           (73)                           (557)                        
At 30 June 2022 979                      3,782                       432                          205                           5,398                      

Individual impairment 33                         1,332                       -                               -                                1,365                      
Collective impairment 946                      2,450                       432                          205                           4,033                      

979                      3,782                       432                          205                           5,398                      
1,533                   21,956                     1,893                       293                           25,675                    

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

 12-mth ECL 
 Lifetime ECL not credit 

impaired  
 Lifetime ECL credit 

impaired  
 Collective Provision  Collective Provision  Specific Provision  Total 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

At 1 July 2020 5,981                       117                          1,010                       7,108                       
Transferred to 12 months ECL collectively assessed 48                            (48)                           -                                -                               
Transfer to lifetime ECL not credit impaired collectively assessed (13)                           13                            -                                -                               
Transfer to lifetime ECL credit impaired -                               (220)                         220                           -                               
New and increased provisions net of releases (1,627)                     323                          427                           (877)                        
Impaired loans written off -                               -                               (276)                         (276)                        
At 30 June 2021 4,389                       185                          1,381                       5,955                      

Personal Loans
Mortgage 

Loans Commercial loans
Revolving 

Credit Total
2021 2021 2021 2021

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

At 1 July 2020 1,477                   4,829                       524                          278                           7,108                      
Charge/(Recovery) for the year (248)                     (835)                         (70)                           -                                (1,153)                     
At 30 June 2021 1,229                   3,994                       454                          278                           5,955                      

Individual impairment -                            1,381                       -                               -                                1,381                      

Collective impairment 1,168                   2,744                       384                          278                           4,574                      

1,168                   4,125                       384                          278                           5,955                      
2,616                   30,664                     2,533                       261                           36,074                    

2022 2021 2022 2021
b) Loan impairment expense / (release) $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Change in provision for impairment of loans & advances net of release (126)                         (876)                         (126)                         (876)                        
(126)                         (876)                         (126)                         (876)                        

 Parent and 
Consolidated 

 Parent and 
Consolidated 

2022 2021

c) Loan Maturity Analysis $'000 $'000
Not longer than 3 months 7,759                       30,185                    
Longer than 3 months and not longer than 12 months 20,949                     48,827                    
Longer than 12 months and not longer than 5 years 81,649                     418,165                  
Longer than 5 years 2,250,022               1,727,573               

Total gross loans and advances to members 2,360,379               2,224,750               

Parent and Consolidated

 Gross amount of loans in arrears

 Parent 

 Gross amount of loans in arrears

Parent and Consolidated

 Provision for impairments on loans and  advances to members 

 Provision for impairments on loans and  advances to members Parent and Consolidated

 Provision for impairments on loans and  advances to members 

Parent and Consolidated

 Consolidated 
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 Parent and 

Consolidated 
 Parent and 

Consolidated 

C2 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO MEMBERS (Continued) 2022 2021

d) Loan Security dissection $'000 $'000
Secured by mortgage over Commercial property 140,832                  164,088                  
Secured by mortgage over real estate 2,136,917               1,969,209               
Partly secured by goods mortgage 53,950                     64,275                    
Wholly unsecured 28,680                     27,178                    

Total gross loans and advances to members 2,360,379               2,224,750               

e)

Loan to valuation ratio of less than 80% 1,999,684               1,803,805               
Loan to valuation ratio of more than 80% but mortgage insured 224,084                  259,602                  
Loan to valuation ratio of more than 80% but not mortgage insured 54,109                     69,890                    

Total loans secured by mortgage over real estate and commercial property 2,277,877               2,133,297               

 f) Concentration of loans 
 Parent and 

Consolidated 
 Parent and 

Consolidated 
2022 2021

$'000 $'000

New South Wales 2,168,931               2,070,801               
Other 191,448                  153,949                  

Total 2,360,379               2,224,750               

 g) Off-Balance sheet arrangements

 h) 

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Loans assigned to the securitisation trust -                               -                               515,335                   488,240                  

 Parent 

 ●  Loans to members are concentrated solely in Australia and principally in Northern NSW. 

The Company has established the Trust to provide access to emergency liquidity support in the event of a systemic liquidity crisis. The Trust is in substance controlled by 
the Company. Accordingly, the Trust is consolidated into the Company's financial statements. The Company sells the rights to future cash flows of eligible residential home 
loans into the Trust and receives funds equal to the aggregated outstanding balances on all loans which the Trust has purchased and subsequently issued Notes for 
investors to invest in. Two classes of notes were issued by the Trust and both are fully owned by the Company. Whilst the rights to the underlying cash flows have been 
transferred, the Company has been appointed to service the loans and must continue to manage the loans as if it were the lender. Accordingly, the mortgage loans and 
associated financial liability from the Trust on transfer of the loans are recognised in the Company’s financial statements. During the financial year, an additional balance of 
$240,811,554 loans was transferred to the trusts and the balance of securitised loans is $515,334,917 (2021: $488,239,983). 

 ●  There were no loans to individual or related groups of members which exceed 10% of 
member funds in aggregate. 

 Loan to valuation ratio 

The Group accepts a number of methods to value collateral for supporting loans. Real estate is valued utilising a licensed panel of valuers, the purchase price of arms 
length residential sales, Valuer General notices and market appraisals from real estate agents (a lower loan to valuation ratio is applied). Motor vehicles are valued by 
reference to an independent valuation guide.

It is impractical to provide a period end valuation of the security held against loans due to the large number of assets to be valued to arrive at the amount. A breakdown of 
the loan to valuation ratio on loans secured by mortgages over real estate, on a portfolio basis is as follows:

 ●  There is no concentration of loans to individual members employed in a particular industry. 

 Consolidated 

Self Securitisation

The Group has arrangements with Integris Securitisation Services Pty Limited whereby it acts as an agent to promote loans on their behalf, for on sale to an investment 
trust. The Group also manages the portfolio on behalf of the trust. The amount of securitised loans under management as at 30 June 2022 is $598,459 (2021 is $824,791).
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C3 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

2022 2021 2022 2021

Equity Securities designated as FVOCI $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Australian Settlements Limited 3                               3                               3                               3                              
Auswide Bank Ltd 4                               5                               4                               5                              
ID Exchange Pty Ltd -                           77                            -                           77                            
Indue Ltd 872                          872                          872                           872                          
SocietyOne Holdings Pty Ltd -                           500                          -                           500                          
Moneyme Limited 116                          -                           116                           -                           

995                          1,457                       995                           1,457                       
Contract assets
Insurance contracts. B1 (ii) 1,480                       1,097                       1,480                       1,097                       

1,480                       1,097                       1,480                       1,097                       

Total Other Financial Assets 2,475                       2,554                       2,475                       2,554                      

C4 INVESTMENTS AT AMORTISED COST

2022 2021 2022 2021
Current $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
ADI debt investments 122,985                  37,738                     122,985                   37,738                    
Semi Government securities 53,757                     10,409                     53,757                     10,409                    
Commonwealth Government securities 104,972                  124,997                  104,972                   124,997                  
Total current investments at Amortised Cost 281,714                  173,144                  281,714                   173,144                  

Non-Current 
ADI debt investments 109,625                  66,418                     109,625                   66,418                    
Semi Government securities 70,412                     86,482                     70,412                     86,482                    
Residential Mortgage Backed securities 33,388                     17,314                     33,388                     17,314                    
Total non-current investment at Amortised Cost 213,425                  170,214                  213,425                   170,214                  

Total investments at amortised cost 495,139                  343,358                  495,139                   343,358                  

The fair value of the shareholding of Indue Ltd and Australian Settlements Limited was based on a Net Asset Valuation basis performed in 2022. Indue Ltd and Australian 
Settlements Limited were created to supply services to mutual banks, credit unions and building societies, they do not have an independent business focus. The shares in 
Indue Ltd and Australian Settlements Limited are held to enable the Group to receive essential banking services.

SocietyOne was an unlisted finance company who completed a merger implementation agreement with MoneyMe Ltd on 15 March 2022. Scrip consideration was received 
in exchange for SocietyOne Shares.

The Group has classified investments in unlisted securities as Other Financial Assets investments and movements in fair value are recognised directly in equity. The fair 
value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets are determined by reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the 
balance sheet date. For equity investments with no active market, fair values are estimated on the basis of the actual or forecasted financial position and results of the 
underlying assets or net assets taking consideration their risk profile. Refer to Note C5 (d). 

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as Investments at Amortised Cost as they meet the AASB 9 SPPI test 
and when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.  This cost is computed as the amount initially recognised minus principal repayments, plus or 
minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of the difference between the initially recognised amount and the maturity amount. 

Moneyme Limited is listed on the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX: MME) and shares are valued at market price as at the balance date.
The total effect of valuation changes performed on Other Financial Assets to Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) was immaterial to the Group.

Auswide Bank Ltd is listed on the Australia Stock Exchange (ASX: ABA) and shares are valued at market price as at the balance date.

 Parent  Consolidated 

The group considers a debt security to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of 'investment grade'. The assets 
are subject to impairment under AASB 9. The estimated provision for impairment losses was determined to be immaterial. 

ID Exchange Pty Ltd is an unlisted company and the shares are valued at fair value using available market information.

Other Financial Asset investments are non-derivative financial assets, principally equity securities. After initial recognition Other Financial Asset securities are measured at 
fair value with gains or losses being recognised as other comprehensive income until the investment is derecognised or until the investment is determined to be impaired, 
at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income.   

 Consolidated 

Equity Securities designated as at FVOCI

 Parent 
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C5 FINANCIAL RISK  MANAGEMENT

a) Credit Risk

(i) Maximum exposure to credit risk 

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cash and cash equivalents 279,552 239,697 178,381 211,518
Trade and other receivables 1,100 1,673 2,606 3,093
Loans and advances to members 2,360,379 2,224,750 2,360,379 2,224,750
Notes receivable from securitisation trust 0 0 615,000 515,000
Other financial assets 2,475 2,554 2,475 2,554
Investments at amortised cost 495,139 343,358 495,139 343,358

Total on balance sheet 3,138,646 2,812,032 3,653,981 3,300,272

Credit risk exposures relating to off balance sheet assets:
Guarantees 3,147 6,415 3,147 6,415

185,691 167,868 185,691 167,868
Undrawn loan commitments 146,173 156,291 146,173 156,291
Total off balance sheet 335,011 330,574 335,011 330,574

Total on and off balance sheet 3,473,657 3,142,606 3,988,992 3,630,846
(ii) Collateral 

●  for commercial lending, charges over real estate properties and inventory; and
●  for retail lending, mortgages over residential properties.

Exposure to credit 
risk

Property Total Collateral Net Exposure

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Cash and cash equivalents 279,552 0 0 279,552
Trade and other receivables 1,100 0 0 1,100
Loans and advances to members 2,360,379 3,359,115 3,359,115 0
Other financial assets 2,475 0 0 2,475
Investments at amortised cost 495,139 0 0 495,139
Total on balance sheet 3,138,645 3,359,115 3,359,115 778,267

Credit risk exposures relating to off balance sheet assets:
Guarantees 3,147 0 0 3,147

185,691 0 0 185,691
Undrawn loan commitments 146,173 0 0 146,173
Total off balance sheet 335,011 0 0 335,011

Total on and off balance sheet 3,473,656 3,359,115 3,359,115 1,113,278

 Estimated FV of collateral held 

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and operational risk. The Group's overall risk management program 
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The Group uses different 
methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include sensitivity in the case of interest rate risk and ageing analysis for credit risk.

Management monitors the market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with the underlying agreement, and monitors the market value of 
collateral obtained during its review of the adequacy of the allowance for impairment losses.

Loan Repayments in advance 

The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the member. Guidelines are in place with regards to the acceptability of types of 
collateral and valuation parameters.

Maximum exposure to credit risk taking into account the estimated FV of collateral held:
 Consolidated 2022 

Loan Repayments in advance 

Credit risk exposures relating to on balance sheet assets:

The main types of collateral obtained are as follows:

 Parent  Consolidated 

The Group manages these risks on a daily basis through the operational responsibilities of Executive and Senior Management and the functioning of the Asset and Liability 
Committee (ALCo), the Credit Committee, the Non-Financial Risk Committee, the Transformational Change Committee, and the Product Committee under policies 
approved by the Board after recommendation from the Audit Committee or Risk Committee.

Credit risk exposures relating to on balance sheet assets:

Credit risk is the risk that the Group will incur a loss when its members, clients or counterparties fail to discharge their contractual obligations. The Group manages and 
controls credit risk by setting limits for individual counterparties, geographical and industry concentrations and monitoring these exposures.

The terms and conditions are specific to individual loan and security types.
It is the Group's policy to dispose of repossessed collateral in an orderly fashion. The proceeds are used to reduce or repay the outstanding claim.  The Group does not 
occupy repossessed properties for business use.

The Group has established a credit control review process to provide early identification of possible changes in the creditworthiness of counterparties, including regular 
collateral revisions. Credit limits are established by use of a comprehensive assessment process. The credit control review process allows the Group to assess the potential 
loss as a result of the risks to which it is exposed and take corrective action. 

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements:
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C5 FINANCIAL RISK  MANAGEMENT (Continued)
a) Credit Risk (Continued)

(ii) Collateral (Continued)

Exposure to credit 
risk

Property Total Collateral Net Exposure

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Cash and cash equivalents 239,697 0 0 239,697
Trade and other receivables 1,673 0 0 1,673
Loans and advances to members 2,224,750 3,172,722 3,172,722 0
Other financial assets 2,554 0 0 2,554
Investments at amortised cost 343,358 0 0 343,358
Total on balance sheet 2,812,032 3,172,722 3,172,722 587,282

Credit risk exposures relating to off balance sheet assets:
Guarantees 6,415 0 0 6,415

167,868 0 0 167,868
Undrawn loan commitments 156,291 0 0 156,291
Total off balance sheet 330,574 0 0 330,574

Total on and off balance sheet 3,142,606 3,172,722 3,172,722 917,856

(iii) Renegotiated loans

(iv) Impairment assessment

●  whether any payments of principal or interest are overdue; or
●  there are any known difficulties in the cash flows of counterparties; or
●  infringements of the original terms of the contract.

(v) Collectively assessed allowances

 Estimated FV of collateral held 

Impairment losses are estimated by taking into consideration the following information: historical losses on the portfolio, current economic conditions, the approximate 
delay between the time a loss is likely to have been incurred and the time it will be identified as requiring an individually assessed impairment allowance, and expected 
receipts and recoveries once impaired. Management is responsible for calculating the length of the emergence period which can extend for as long as eighteen months. 

Where possible, the Group seeks to restructure loans rather than to take possession of collateral. This may involve extending the payment arrangements and the 
agreement of new loan conditions. Once the terms have been renegotiated, the loan is no longer considered past due. Management continuously reviews renegotiated 
loans to ensure that all criteria are met and that future payments are likely to occur. The loans continue to be subject to an individual or collective impairment assessment 
under Stage 2 or Stage 3 of the ECL calculation.

The Group addressed impairment assessment in two areas: individually assessed allowances and collectively assessed allowances.

Credit risk exposures relating to on balance sheet assets:

The main considerations for loan impairment assessment are as follows: 

Maximum exposure to credit risk taking into account the estimated FV of collateral held:

Allowances are assessed collectively for losses in sub-portfolios of loans and advances that are not individually significant and for individually significant loans and 
advances where there is no objective evidence of individual impairment. Allowances are evaluated on each reporting date with each portfolio being separately reviewed. 
The grouping for collective impairment assessment is Personal Loans, Mortgage Loans, Commercial Loans and Revolving Credit.

 Consolidated 2021 

Loan Repayments in advance 

During the financial period the Group realised $49,967 (2021:$20,528) of real estate and other assets through the enforcement of security. As at period-end, the market 
value of assets in possession by the Group was $Nil (2021:$15,000). The Group uses external agents to realise the value as soon as practicable, generally at auction, to 
settle indebtedness. Any surplus funds are returned to the borrower or are otherwise dealt with in accordance with appropriate insolvency regulations.
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C5 FINANCIAL RISK  MANAGEMENT (Continued)
a) Credit Risk (Continued)

(vi) Individually assessed allowances

(vii) Analysis of age of financial assets that are past due but not impaired

30 June 2022

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Loans and advances to members
Personal Loans                        553                            134                            111                            783                        1,581 
Mortgage Loans                     9,530                         2,070                         1,584                         8,724                      21,908 
Commercial Loans                        753                              17                            201                            922                        1,893 
Revolving Credit                        111                              50                              30                            102                            293 

 Total                  10,947                        2,271                        1,926                       10,531                      25,675 

30 June 2021

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Loans and advances to members
Personal Loans                        873                            263                            132                         1,348                        2,616 
Mortgage Loans                   13,019                         3,800                         1,313                         7,669                      25,801 
Commercial Loans                        769                            497                            210                            836                        2,312 
Revolving Credit                        114                              34                              38                               82                            268 

 Total                  14,775                        4,594                        1,693                         9,935                      30,997 

(viii) Analysis of financial assets individually determined to be impaired
Parent and Consolidated

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Loans and advances to members                       5,482                     1,365                         4,116                         5,198                         1,381                        3,817 

                     5,482                     1,365                        4,116                        5,198                         1,381                        3,817 

(ix)   Credit quality of financial assets

30 June 2022

Consolidated Parent Consolidated Parent Consolidated Parent

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2,345,397             2,345,397           3,871                       3,871                       11,138                     11,138                    
              2,345,397             2,345,397                        3,871                        3,871                       11,138                      11,138 

30 June 2021

Consolidated Parent Consolidated Parent Consolidated Parent

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2,208,209             2,208,209           6,430                       6,430                       10,111                     10,111                    
              2,208,209             2,208,209                        6,430                        6,430                       10,111                      10,111 

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

 AAA 192,312                  160,052                  192,312                   160,052                  

 AA 324,352                  338,988                  223,235                   310,812                  
 A 85,173                     22,053                     85,173                     22,053                    
 BBB 94,890                     -                               94,890                     -                               
 Unrated 78,829                     62,266                     78,829                     62,266                    

                   775,556                    583,359                     674,439                    555,183 

30 June 2022 Housing Commercial Personal Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Loans                 2,088,228                    195,492                       46,851                 2,330,572 
Revolving Credit and Overdrafts                         3,250                      13,919                       12,665                      29,834 

Total Balances                 2,091,478                    209,411                       59,516                2,360,406 

Percentage of portfolio 88.6% 8.9% 2.5% 100.0%

Maximum percentage under Group policy 100.0% 17.0% 30.0%

The Group determines specific allowances loans where there has been a significant decline in the credit quality and there is evidence of specific impairment. When specific 
allowances are assessed the value may, or may not consider taking security into consideration.

Parent and Consolidated

 1 to 30 days 

 Collective Provision 

 90+ days 

Impaired Assets Net of 
Assessed Provisions

 Stage 2 Stage 1  Stage 3 

 Loans and Advances 

 Cash and cash equivalents and Investments at amortised cost   Consolidated 

Stage 1

Gross 
Impaired Assets

 Collective Provision 

 Stage 2  Stage 3 

 60 to 90 days 

Parent and Consolidated

 30 to 60 days 

 Specific Provision  Collective Provision 

 Total  90+ days 

Gross 
Impaired Assets

Individually Assessed 
Provisions

 12-mth ECL 

2021

 Parent 

- ECL stage 1: Corresponds to a senior investment grade to investment grade security with a Standard and Poor's rating of AAA to BBB-;
- ECL Stage 2: Corresponds to a sub-investment grade security with a Standard and Poor's rating of BB+;
- ECL stage 3: Corresponds to a security in default with a Standard and Poor's rating of D.

 Loans and Advances 

 12-mth ECL  Lifetime ECL not credit impaired   Lifetime ECL credit impaired  

Parent and Consolidated

 The portfolio composition of loans and advances to members are as follows:  

 Lifetime ECL not credit impaired   Lifetime ECL credit impaired  

 Financial Investments are subject to ECL provision but the Group has assessed the amount as immaterial. 

The credit quality of loans and advances and financial investments, can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if available):

 Financial assets individually assessed as impaired 

 30 to 60 days 

 Collective Provision 

 1 to 30 days 

 Specific Provision 

 60 to 90 days  Total 

Individually Assessed 
Provisions

Impaired Assets Net of 
Assessed Provisions

2022
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C5 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

a) Credit Risk (Continued)
(ix)   Credit quality of financial assets(Continued)

30 June 2021 Housing Commercial Personal Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Loans                 1,920,763                    211,349                       60,769                 2,192,881 
Revolving Credit and Overdrafts                         4,560                      13,883                       13,426                      31,869 

Total Balances                 1,925,323                    225,232                       74,194                2,224,750 

Percentage of portfolio 86.5% 10.1% 3.3% 100.0%

Maximum percentage under policy 100.0% 17.0% 30.0%

b) Liquidity Risk

2022 2021
% %

 30 June 16.87 17.22
Average during the period 17.78 18.83
Highest 19.79 21.05
Lowest 16.19 16.65

Financial Liabilities

As at 30 June 2022 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Deposits               1,985,964                329,426                    346,683                      41,324                                -                   2,703,397 
Trade and other payables                    18,451                           -                                 -                                 -                                  -                        18,451 
Term Funding Facility                           -                                 -                      213,598                                -                      213,598 

Total financial liabilities               2,004,415                329,426                    346,683                    254,922                                -                  2,935,446 

Contingent liabilities                       3,147                           -                                 -                                 -                                  -                          3,147 
Commitments                  252,928                   78,936                            377                         1,686                                -                      333,927 

Total other liabilities 256,075                78,936                 377                          1,686                                                      -                      337,074 

Financial Liabilities

As at 30 June 2021 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Deposits               1,629,520                343,050                    388,449                      38,021                                -                   2,399,040 
Trade and other payables                    14,414                           -                                 -                                 -                                  -                        14,414 
Term Funding Facility                           -                                 -                      213,598                                -                      213,598 
Total financial liabilities               1,643,934                343,050                    388,449                    251,619                                  -                2,627,052 
Contingent liabilities                       6,415                           -                                 -                                 -                                  -                          6,415 
Commitments                  242,052                   82,107                            377                         1,686                                -                      326,222 

Total other liabilities                  248,467                  82,107                            377                        1,686                                -                      332,637 

i) The table excludes a parent liability of $515,335,917 (2021: $488,239,983) over 5 years for self securitised mortgage loans referred to in Note C2 h)

The liquidity ratio during the year was as follows:

On 
demand

 Maturities of financial liabilities 

Parent and Consolidated

Parent & Consolidated

Less than 
3 months

1 to 5 years Total

No
Maturity

The Group maintains a portfolio of high quality liquid assets that can be easily liquidated in the event of an unforeseen interruption to cash flow. The Group also has lines 
of credit available, including membership of the Credit Union Financial Support Scheme (CUFSS), that it can access to meet its liquidity needs. As a member of CUFSS, the 
Group has contractually committed emergency liquidity funding available from the CUFSS members.

1 to 5 years
Less than 
3 months

iI) The table includes a drawn allocation of $212,957,966 under the Term Funding Facility (TFF) from the Reserve Bank of Australia referred to in Note C8. No further 
amounts are available for draw down on the TFF as of 30 June 2022.

Parent & Consolidated

On 
demand

No
Maturity

In order to minimise the risk of the Group’s liquidity ratio falling below minimum regulatory limits the Board has determined a target liquidity ratio of 12%.  In the event 
that the Group’s liquidity ratio falls below 12%, or is considered to be at risk of falling below that level, specific remedial measures are required to be taken by the Board 
and management.

3 to 12 months

Total

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 

3 to 12 months

The table below analyses the entity's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the expected maturity date or settlement date.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due under normal and stress circumstances. To limit this risk, 
management has wholesale funding sources and emergency funding tools in addition to its core deposit base, manages assets with liquidity in mind and monitors future 
cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. This incorporates an assessment of expected cash flows.

The liquidity position is assessed and managed under a variety of scenarios, giving due consideration to stress factors relating to both the market in general and specifically 
to the Group. The most important of these is to maintain minimum regulatory limits on the ratio of net liquid assets to customer liabilities, set to reflect market conditions. 
Net liquid assets consists of cash and short term bank deposits available for immediate sale. 
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C5 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

c) Interest Rate Risk

(i) Value at Risk (VaR)

2022 2021 2022 2021

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
VaR exposure at 30 June 2,652                       197                          2,652                       197                          
Average monthly VaR exposure 1,013                       281                          1,013                       281                          
Maximum monthly VaR exposure 2,652                       365                          2,652                       365                          
Minimum monthly VaR exposure 307                          197                          307                           197                          

(ii) Sensitivity

1% shift upwards of interest rate impact to income statement (3,204)                     2,724                       (3,204)                      2,724                       

1% shift downwards of interest rate impact to income statement 3,204                       (2,724)                     3,204                       (2,724)                     

d)
AASB 13 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:
(a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

(c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (level 3).

30 June 2022 Carrying value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents                279,552                    279,552                               -                                  -                      279,552 
Investments at Amortised cost                495,139                               -                      495,139                                -                      495,139 
Loans and advances             2,354,981                               -                                 -                   2,354,981                 2,354,981 
Other Financial assets                     2,475                               -                                 -                           2,475                        2,475 
Total financial assets             3,132,148                    279,552                    495,139                 2,357,456                 3,132,148 
Financial liabilities
Deposits             2,699,099                               -                   2,699,099                                -                   2,699,099 
Term Funding Facility 212,958                                             -   212,958                                                 -                      212,958 
Total financial liabilities             2,912,057                               -                   2,912,057                                -                   2,912,057 

30 June 2021 Carrying value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents                239,697                    239,697                               -                                  -                      239,697 
Investments at Amortised cost                343,358                               -                      343,358                                -                      343,358 
Loans and advances             2,218,794                               -                                 -                   2,218,794                 2,218,794 
Other Financial assets                     2,554                               -                                 -                           2,554                        2,554 
Total financial assets             2,804,403                    239,697                    343,358                 2,221,348                 2,804,403 
Financial liabilities
Deposits             2,394,363                               -                   2,394,363                                -                   2,394,363 
Term Funding Facility 212,958                                             -   212,958                                                 -                      212,958 
Total financial liabilities             2,607,321                               -                   2,607,321                                -                   2,607,321 

As a normal distribution is used, the standard deviation of the portfolio is multiplied by 2.33 to achieve a 99% confidence level. A proxy set of interest rates must be used 
to estimate the changes in the yield curve. The proxy curve used by the Group is the interbank yield curve constructed from the official cash rate, BBSW and swap rates.

Consolidated

Fair Value Measurements of financial assets and liabilities

Since VaR is an integral part of the Group's interest rate risk management, VaR limits have been established for all non-trading operations and exposures are reviewed 
monthly against the limits by management.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group's statement of profit and loss 
and other comprehensive income. This methodology was also applied in previous years.

 Parent 

 (b) inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
           directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (level 2), and 

The majority of  financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group are carried at amortised cost. While this is the value at which the Group expects the assets to be 
realised and the liabilities to be settled , the table below includes the estimated fair values as at 30 June: 

 Consolidated 

Consolidated

VaR is a statistical measure of the potential loss expected due to a change in market conditions arising from currently held positions, given a certain confidence level and 
holding period. VaR is presented as a dollar amount and is based on historically observed volatility. The holding period represents the implied liquidation period of the 
portfolio. It is the number of days required to either liquidate a portfolio or hedge the risk within the portfolio. The observation period is the number of days over which 
the previous market data (interest rates) is observed to predict the future. The 99% confidence level is the degree of confidence with which the VaR number will not be 
exceeded.  A 99% confidence level implies that for 99 out of 100 observations, the market value based loss will not be greater than the VaR number. 

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair values of financial instruments. The board has established 
limits on Value at Risk (VaR) and interest rate gaps for stipulated periods. Positions are monitored on a daily basis and hedging strategies are considered to ensure 
positions are maintained within the established limits.

The sensitivity of the statement is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on the net income for one year, based on floating rate non-trading financial assets 
and liabilities held at year end.  
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C5 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

d)

e) Operational Risk

The Group manages these risks on a daily basis through the operational responsibilities of Executive and Senior management and the functioning of the Non-Financial Risk 
Committee (NFRC) under policies approved by the Board after recommendation from the Audit Committee or Risk Committee covering specific areas, such as outsourcing 
risk, fraud risk and business continuity risk.

The fair value of investments at amortised cost was calculated using the effective interest rate method. The amortised cost carrying value approximates fair value and they 
are considered level 2 under the fair value measurement hierarchy. 

The fair value estimates were determined by the following methodologies and assumptions:

Deposits

Investments in unlisted and listed equity investments with a fair value of $995,108 (2021: $1,456,880) were included in Other Financial Asset Investments as at 30 June 
2022.
All Other Financial Assets other than Auswide Bank Ltd (level 1) are categorised as level 3 within the fair value hierarchy of AASB 13. There is no immediate intention to 
dispose of these investments. There were no changes between levels during the year.

The carrying values of cash, cash equivalents, liquid assets, and receivables due from other financial institutions approximate their fair value as they are short term in 
nature or are receivable on demand.

Cash and cash equivalents

Investments at amortised cost

Loans and advances to members

Other financial assets

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error, fraud or external events. When controls fail to perform, operational risks can cause damage to 
reputation, have legal or regulatory implications, or lead to financial loss. The Group cannot expect to eliminate all operational risks, but through a control framework and 
by monitoring and responding to potential risks, the Group is able to manage the risks. Controls include effective segregation of duties, access to systems, authorisation 
and reconciliation procedures, staff training and assessment processes including the use of internal audit.

Fair Value Measurements of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Deposits are carried at amortised cost. The amortised cost carrying value approximated fair value and are considered level 2 under the fair value hierarchy. 

As at 30 June 2022 and 2021 there were no transfers of securities between levels.

The carrying value of loans, advances and other receivables is net of specific provisions for impairment.  These are carried at amortised cost. The amortised cost carrying 
value approximates fair value and they are considered level 3 under the fair value measurement hierarchy. 
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C6 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2022 2021 2022 2021

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Accrued Interest and other accrued income 180                          41                            180                           41                            

Sundry debtors and settlement accounts 68                            798                          68                             798                          
Intercompany receivable from securitisation trust -                               -                               1,506                       1,419                       
Prepayments 852                          834                          852                           834                          

Total trade and other receivables 1,100                       1,673                       2,606                       3,093                      

There were no receivables past due at balance date.

C7 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2022 2021 2022 2021

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Accrued interest payable 3,643                       4,284                       3,643                       4,284                       
Sundry creditors and accrued expenses 1,869                       2,149                       1,869                       2,149                       
Clearing accounts 12,940                     7,981                       12,940                     7,981                       

Total trade and other payables 18,451                    14,414                    18,451                     14,414                    

C8 TERM FUNDING FACILITY

2022 2021 2022 2021

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Term Funding Facility (TFF) 212,958                  212,958                  212,958                   212,958                  

Total trade and other payables 212,958                  212,958                  212,958                   212,958                  

●  Interest rate is fixed at 0.10% for the term of the facility

●  The Reserve Bank will apply haircuts to the collateral which are set out on the Reserve Bank website and may be varied at any time

Reserve Bank of Australia Term Funding Facility (TFF)

 ●  Collateral consists of that currently eligible for the Reserve Bank's domestic market operations and includes self-securitised asset backed securities of which the                       
 Trusts of the group are included 

●  Participants may terminate any usage of the TFF, in part or in full, before its maturity date in accordance with procedures set out by the Reserve Bank.

Trade and other receivables include amounts owed to the Group for services provided, accrued interest on loans and advances, investments, unpresented cheques and 
deposits not yet banked on the bank account and reimbursements of expenses incurred on behalf of a third party. Trade and other receivables includes interest accrued on 
investments which is received on maturity. Amounts due for services provided are normally settled in 30 days.

 With the exception of the intercompany receivable from the securitisation trust, the majority of trade and other receivables are collectable within 12 months. 

 Parent  Consolidated 

Terms of the Term Funding Facility are;

 Consolidated 

 Consolidated  Parent 

As part of the response to the COVID-19 Pandemic, the Reserve Bank of Australia made available a Term Funding Facility (TFF) for Australian ADI's. These ADI's were able 
to draw down on additional funding at 0.10% for up to 3 years up to an individual limit set by the RBA. Regional Australia Bank as at 30 June 2022 has drawn an allowance 
of $212,957,966. There are no further amounts available for draw down as at 30 June 2022.

 Parent 

Trade and other receivables are initially recorded at fair value including transaction costs. At reporting date, trade and other receivables are measured at amortised cost. 
These have been assessed for AASB 9 ECL and the amount is immaterial.

Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised cost and represent accrued interest on deposits and liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group 
prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and 
services. Trade liabilities are normally settled within 30 days.

 ●  Term of any drawdown is a maximum of 3 years from the date of drawdown. Regional Australia Bank drawn tranches are scheduled for repayment between November 
2023 and June 2024 

49REGIONAL AUSTRALIA BANK  |  2022 ANNUAL REPORT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

D CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

D1 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

 Consolidated  Consolidated 
2022 2021

$'000 $'000
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital 199,598 182,294
Additional Tier 1 Capital                               -                                 -   
Tier 2 Capital 4,907 4,938

Total Capital 204,505 187,233

Risk Weighted Assets 1,338,397 1,263,571

Risk-based Capital Ratio 15.28% 14.82%

The Group has been in compliance with the capital requirements imposed by APRA throughout the year.

2022 2021 2022 2021
D2 REDEEMABLE MEMBER SHARES $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Opening balance 1,165                       1,192                       1,165                       1,192                       
Transfer from/(to) retained earnings (22)                           (27)                           (22)                           (27)                           
Closing balance 1,143                       1,165                       1,143                       1,165                      

For capital adequacy purposes, the capital base at Level 1 and Level 2 is defined as the sum of Common Equity Tier 1, Additional Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital after all specified 
deductions and adjustments, subject to the various limits that apply.

During the past year the Group has complied in full with all its externally imposed capital requirements.

Although the Group actively monitors and manages its risk exposure in each of these areas, the Group does not calculate and determine its minimum capital needs by 
allocating a specific value or ‘capital charge’ to each type of risk.  Rather, the Board has resolved that the Group will maintain, based on the outcomes of its annual capital 
planning processes, an ‘internal minimum’ target capital ratio (TCR) of 14%.

Tier 1 capital comprises the highest quality capital components. Tier 2 capital includes other components that, to varying degrees, fall short of the quality of Tier 1 capital 
but nonetheless contribute to the overall strength of an institution as a going concern. 

Under the Corporations Act 2001  member shares are classified as redeemable preference shares.  The redemption of these shares is required under the Act to be made 
from profits.  The value of the shares that have been paid to members is in accordance with the terms and conditions of the share issue and the redemption account 
represents the amount of profits appropriated. No dividends were paid or are payable to the relevant holders.

For capital adequacy purposes, authorised deposit-taking institutions must hold a minimum amount of Common Equity Tier 1 capital and Additional Tier 1 capital. In 
addition, they may include an amount of Tier 2 capital as part of their required capital holdings, up to the limits specified in the Prudential Standard APS 110: Capital 
Adequacy . 

The Prudential Standard sets out the essential characteristics that an instrument must have to qualify as Tier 1 or Tier 2 capital for inclusion in the capital base for assessing 
Level 1 and Level 2 capital adequacy. 

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management activities are to ensure that the Group complies with externally imposed capital requirements and that the 
Group maintains healthy capital ratios in order to support its activities.

 Consolidated  Parent 

The Group maintains an actively managed capital base to cover risks inherent in its business. The adequacy of the Group's capital is monitored using, among other 
measures, the rules and ratios established by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

D3 RESERVES
2022 2021 2022 2021

Other reserves $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Land and Buildings revaluation reserve 859                          859                          859                           859                          
Other Financial Asset investments revaluation reserve 74                            397                          74                             397                          

Total other reserves 933                          1,256                       933                           1,256                      

Movements:

Land and Buildings revaluation reserve

Opening balance 859                          2,593                       859                           2,593                       
Movement in Land and Building revaluation reserve -                               (1,734)                     -                                (1,734)                     
Balance at end of year 859                          859                          859                           859                          

                           397                            396                            397                            396 
(323)                                                        1 (323)                                                        1 

74                            397                          74                             397                          

E EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

E1 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
2022 2021

a) Employee benefits expense $'000 $'000

Salaries and wages 19,841                     18,613                    
Superannuation expense 1,907                       1,664                       
Other employee benefits expense 3,044                       2,482                       

24,792                     22,760                    

b) Provision for Employee benefits

2022 2021 2022 2021
Current $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Annual leave 1,828                       1,683                       1,828                       1,683                       
Long service leave 2,012                       2,279                       2,012                       2,279                       
Total current provisions 3,840                       3,962                       3,840                       3,962                      

Non-current
Long service leave 576                          468                          576                           468                          
Total non current provisions 576                          468                          576                           468                          

Total provisions 4,415                       4,430                       4,415                       4,430                      

 Consolidated  Parent 

 Opening balance 

 Other Financial Asset investments revaluation reserve 

The liability for long service leave is not expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service recognised 
in the provision for long service leave and measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the 
reporting date using the projected unit credit method. In determining the present value of the liability, attrition rates and pay increases through promotion and inflation 
have been taken into account. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected 
future payments are discounted using the corporate bond rate at reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, 
to the estimated future cash flows. 

Contributions are made by the Group to an employee’s superannuation fund and are charged to the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income as 
incurred.

The Land & Buildings revaluation reserve records increments and decrements arising from the revaluation of land and buildings.

The Other Financial Asset investments revaluation reserve records investment in primarily equity investments that are not held for trading and are measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income, where an irrecoverable election has been made by management. Amounts in the reserve are subsequently transferred to retained 
earnings, and not profit or loss, when the asset is derecognised. Dividends on such investments are recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a 
recovery of part of the cost of the investment.

 Consolidated  Parent 

 Movement in Other Financial Asset revaluation reserve 
 Balance at end of year 

Liabilities for wages, salaries and annual leave are expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date after the end of the period in which the employees render 
related service are recognised in respect of employees' services up to the reporting date. They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled. Liabilities for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and are measured at the rates paid or payable. The liability for annual leave is 
recognised in the provision for annual leave.

 Parent & Consolidated 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

E2 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

a) Remuneration of Key Management Personnel (KMP)

2022 2021

$ $
Short-term employee benefits 2,801,827               3,533,119               
Termination benefits 926,774                  271,435                  
Superannuation contributions 218,258                  229,579                  

Total remuneration of Key Management Personnel 3,946,859               4,034,133               

b) Loans to Key Management Personnel (KMP)

2022 2021
$ $

5,323,152               5,050,789               

                   119,000                    119,000 

(41,226)                   (23,885)                   

Net revolving credit facilities available 77,774                    95,115                    

                2,537,017                 1,675,472 

11,987                     14,081                    

Total loans disbursed to Key Management Personnel 2,549,004               1,689,553               

81,067                     105,199                  

c) Deposits from Key Management Personnel

2,755,816               2,418,168               

1,787                       2,815                       

d) Other transactions of Key Management Personnel

 Total interest paid on deposits to Key Management Personnel during the year: 

 Interest and other revenue earned on loans and revolving credit facilities to Key Management Personnel 

 Consolidated and Parent 

 (i) The aggregate value of loans to Key Management Personnel as at balance date: 

 Total value of term and savings deposits from Key Management Personnel as at balance date: 

 Consolidated and Parent 

Remuneration shown as short term benefits means (where applicable) wages, salaries, paid annual leave, paid sick leave, profit-sharing and bonuses, and value of fringe 
benefits received, but excludes out of pocket expense reimbursements.

All loans disbursed to Key Management Personnel were approved on the same terms and conditions, which are applicable to members for each class of loan. There are no 
loans that are impaired in relation to the loan balances with Key Management Personnel and have been assessed in the ECL model as part of the Stage 1 collective 
provision. 

Key Management Personnel who are not directors receive a concessional rate of interest on their loans and facilities. These benefits, where subject to fringe benefits tax, 
are included in the remuneration in (a) above.

 Average balance of revolving credit facilities 

 (iii) Less amounts drawn down and included in total loans above 

 Fixed term loans disbursed to Key Management Personnel during the year: 

 (ii) The total value of revolving credit facilities to Key Management Personnel as at balance date: 

 Consolidated and Parent 

 Consolidated and Parent 
There are no benefits or concessional terms and conditions applicable to the close family members of the Key Management Personnel.

Key Management Personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, 
including any Director of that entity. Key Management Personnel have been taken to comprise the Directors and members of the Executive Management Team 
responsible for the day to day financial management and operational management of the Group.

The aggregate compensation of Key Management Personnel during the year comprising amounts paid or payable or provided for was as follows:

Directors have received interest on deposits with the Group during the financial year.  Interest has been paid on terms and conditions no more favourable than those 
available on similar transactions to members of the Group.

Apart from the above transactions, there are no service contracts to which Key Management Personnel or their close family members are an interested party.

The Group’s policy for receiving deposits from other related parties and in respect of other related party transactions, is that all transactions are approved and deposits 
accepted on the same terms and conditions that apply to members for each type of deposit. 

There are no benefits paid or payable to the close family members of the Key Management Personnel. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

F OTHER DISCLOSURES

F1 REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

2022 2021 2022 2021

Remuneration of the auditor for: $ $ $ $

● Statutory & Regulatory Audits 253,881                  206,130                  253,881                   206,130                  

● Other Audit Services 99,200                     -                               99,200                     -                               

● Taxation Services 22,700                     23,200                     22,700                     23,200                    

Total remuneration of auditors 375,781                  229,330                  375,781                   229,330                  

F2 LEASES

a) Leases as a Lessee

(i) Right-of-use assets

Land and Buildings Total

2022 $'000 $'000
4,928                       4,928                       

(1,375)                      (1,375)                     
1,356                       1,356                       

-                                -                               
4,909                       4,909                       

2021 $'000 $'000
4,126                       4,126                       

(1,690)                      (1,690)                     
-                               2,492                       2,492                       
-                               -                                -                               

4,928                       4,928                       

(ii) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

2022 2021

$'000 $'000
198                       182                      
-                        -                       
585                       501                      

(iii) Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows 2022 2021

$'000 $'000
1,287                       1,296                   

(iv) Extension options

Some property leases contain extension options exercisable by the Group up to one year before the end of the non-cancellable contract period. Where practicable, the 
Group seeks to include extension options in new leases to provide operational flexibility. The extension options held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the 
Lessors. The Group assesses at lease commencement date whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. The Group reassesses whether it is 
reasonably certain to exercise the options if there is a significant event or significant changes in circumstances within its control.

 Parent 

Information for which the Group is a lessee is presented below.

Right-of-use assets related to leased properties that do not meet the definition of investment property are presented as property, plant and equipment.

Balance at 1 July 
Depreciation charge for the year
Additions to right-of-use assets
Derecognition of right-to-use assets
Balance at 30 June 

Total Cash outflow for leases

Interest on lease liabilities

Balance at 1 July 
Depreciation charge for the year
Additions to right-of-use assets

The Group leases office equipment with contract terms of 5 years. These leases are short-term and of low value items. The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use 
assets and lease liabilities for these leases.

The retail and office property leases were entered into prior to 1 July 2019 and are classified as leases under AASB 16. 

Leases under AASB 16

Income from sub-leasing right-of-use assets presented in 'other revenue'
Expenses relating to short-term leases

Derecognition of right-to-use assets
Balance at 30 June 

The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain commercial properties from which branches operate. The leases typically run for a period between one to ten 
years, with an option to renew the lease after that date. Lease payments are renegotiated at the expiry of the lease, or on exercising of option to renew, to reflect market 
rental. Some leases provide for additional rent payments that are based on changes in local price indices. For certain leases, the Group is restricted from entering into any 
sub-lease arrangements.

 Consolidated 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

F3 COMMITMENTS

a) Undrawn Loan Commitments

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Loans Approved but not funded 78,936                     82,107                     78,936                     82,107                    

185,691                  167,868                  185,691                   167,868                  

Undrawn lines of commitment 67,237                     74,184                     67,237                     74,184                    

331,864                  324,159                  331,864                   324,159                  

F4 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Credit Union Financial Support Scheme (CUFSS)

Financial Guarantees

F5 LAND AND BUILDINGS

2022 2021 2022 2021

(a) Land and buildings $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
At valuation 4,900                       4,903                       4,900                       4,903                       
Less accumulated depreciation (135)                         -                               (135)                         -                               

4,765                       4,903                       4,765                       4,903                      

 Parent 

Any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amounts of the assets and the net amounts are restated to the revalued 
amounts of the assets.

Upon disposal or derecognition, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset being sold is transferred to retained earnings. 

Both the Armidale head office and branch properties were last revalued based on an independent assessment by Herron Todd White Valuers as at June 2021.  During the 
prior year the Group disposed of property in Wauchope.

Letters of guarantee commit the Group to make payments on behalf of customers in the event of a specific act, generally related to contract performance. Guarantees 
carry the same credit risk as loans. The guarantees committed to by the Group are secured by term deposit and  / or real property.

However, the potential credit loss is less than the total unused commitment since most commitments to extend credit are contingent upon members maintaining specific 
standards. The Group monitors the term to maturity of credit commitments because longer term commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter 
term commitments.

These commitments have been considered when estimating the overall ECL provisions for loans and advances. See note C2 a) for breakdown of ECL.

 Consolidated 

Land and buildings are measured at fair value, based on periodic but at least triennial valuations by external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation on 
buildings and less any impairment losses recognised after the date of revaluation. The fair value is reassessed prior to sale.

Any property revaluation increment is credited to the land and building revaluation reserve included in the equity section of the statements of financial position, except to 
the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, in which 
case the increase is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group assesses impairment of all assets at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Group and to the particular asset that may lead to impairment. 
These include product performance, technology, economic and political environments and future product expectations. If an impairment trigger exists the recoverable 
amount of the asset is determined. This involves value in use calculations, which incorporate a number of key estimates and assumptions. 

 Consolidated  Parent 

Loan Repayments in advance 

Commitments to extend credit represent contractual commitments to make loans and revolving credits. Commitments generally have fixed expiry dates, or other 
termination clauses. Since commitments may expire without being drawn upon, the total contract amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements.

The amount guaranteed at balance date is limited to $3,147,576 (2021: $6,415,689).

To meet the financial needs of members, the Group enters into loan commitments. Even though these obligations may not be recognised on the Statements of financial 
position, they do contain credit risk and are therefore part of the overall risk of the Group.

As a member of CUFSS, the parent:
 ●  may be required to advance funds of up to 3% of total assets (capped at $100 million) to a CUFSS member requiring financial support
 ●  Agrees, in conjunction with other members, to fund the operating costs of CUFSS
No such directions has, at balance date, been requested to the parent.

The parent is a party to the Credit Union Financial Support Scheme (CUFSS). CUFSS is a voluntary scheme to provide financial support to member Australian mutual ADI's in 
the event of a liquidity problem. CUFSS is a company limited by guarantee with each members guarantee being $100.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

F5 LAND AND BUILDINGS (Continued)

(b) Movements in carrying amounts

 Parent and 
Consolidated 

2022 Land & Buildings

$'000

Balance at the beginning of the year                       4,903 
Disposals                             (3)
Depreciation expense                        (135)

Carrying amount                      4,765 

 Parent and 
Consolidated 

2021 Land & Buildings

$'000
Balance at the beginning of the year                       7,520 
Revaluation decrement                        (199)

Additions 21                          

Disposals (2,218)                   
Depreciation expense                        (221)

Carrying amount                      4,903 

F6 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Other than disclosed above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of this financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction or event of a 
material or unusual nature, likely, in the opinion of the Directors, to significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of operations, or the state of the affairs of 
the Group in future financial year.

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of land and buildings between the beginning and end of the current financial year are set out below.
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The Directors of Regional Australia Bank Ltd (the Company) declare that in the opinion of the Directors:

(a)

(i)

(ii) complying with Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001;

(b)

(c)

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Geoff Thompson
Director

DECLARATION BY DIRECTORS

Graham Olrich
Director

30 September 2022

Note A confirms that the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board.

The financial statements and notes of the consolidated Group and Company are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; and

giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the consolidated Group and Company as at 30 June 2022 and of its performance for the year 
ended on that date; and
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the members of Regional Australia Bank Ltd 

Opinion 

We have audited the Financial Report of 
Regional Australia Bank Ltd (the Group 
Financial Report). We have also audited 
the Financial Report of Regional Australia 
Bank Ltd (the Parent Financial Report) 

In our opinion, the accompanying Financial 
Report of the Group and the Parent are in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including:  

• giving a true and fair view of the 
Group’s and Parent’s financial 
position as at 30 June 2022 and of 
their financial performance for the 
year ended on that date; and 

• complying with Australian Accounting 
Standards and the Corporations 
Regulations 2001. 

The respective Financial Report of the Group and the 
Parent comprises: 
• Consolidated and Parent’s Statements of financial 

position as at 30 June 2022 

• Consolidated and Parent’s Statements of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, Statements 
of changes in equity, and Statements of cash flows 
for the year then ended 

• Notes including a summary of significant accounting 
policies 

• Directors’ Declaration. 

The Group consists of Regional Australia Bank Ltd (the 
Parent) and the entity it controlled at the year-end or 
from time to time during the financial year. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the Financial Reports section of our report.  

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our 
audit of the Financial Reports in Australia. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code.  

Other Information 

Other Information is financial and non-financial information in Regional Australia Bank Ltd’s annual 
reporting which is provided in addition to the Financial Reports and the Auditor’s Report. The 
Directors are responsible for the Other Information.  

Our opinion on the Financial Report does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, we do not 
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the Financial Reports, our responsibility is to read the Other 
Information. In doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with 
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the Financial Reports or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other 
Information, and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained 
prior to the date of this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The Directors are responsible for: 

• preparing the Financial Report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001

• implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of a Financial Report that
gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error

• assessing the Group and Parent’s ability to continue as a going concern and whether the use
of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate. This includes disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they
either intend to liquidate the Group and Parent or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report 

Our objective is: 

• to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Report as a whole is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and

• to issue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of the Financial Report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: 
https://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf. This description forms part of our 
Auditor’s Report. 

KPMG Nicholas Buchanan 

Partner 

Sydney 

30 September 2022 
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